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About
Waha Capital
Waha Capital is an Abu Dhabi-listed investment
management company that leverages its
emerging markets expertise, business networks
and research capabilities to deliver attractive
returns to shareholders and investors in its funds.
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Founded in 1997, Waha Capital is one of the Emirate’s
leading private sector investment houses, providing a worldclass platform for investment and growth. The Company has
a long-established track record of investing in public and
private markets, deploying proprietary capital in alignment
with the interests of its third-party investors.
The Public Markets business offers sophisticated investors
actively managed emerging markets credit and equities funds,
via a disciplined approach to investment and implementing
distinctive strategies to deliver consistent market-leading returns.

The Private Investments business pursues a multi-asset
investment approach, with the flexibility to deploy capital
across diverse sectors and geographies. The business
leverages extensive international business networks to
source deals and form co-investment partnerships.
Counting Mubadala Investment Company as an anchor
shareholder, Waha Capital is at the forefront of Abu Dhabi’s
increasingly dynamic and entrepreneurial ecosystem,
creating long-term value for shareholders, fund investors,
employees, and communities.
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Financial
Highlights

Public Markets Net Profit

Private Investments Net Loss

AED 603 million

AED (86) million

Net Profit (attributable to owners
of the company)

Earnings Per Share

AED 391 million

AED 0.213
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Public Markets AUM
(as at 31 December)

Private Investments AUM
(as at 31 December)

Waha Land AUM
(as at 31 December)

AED
4.4 billion

AED
0.7 billion

AED
0.7 billion

AED 5.8 billion

Total AUM of Waha Capital
(as at 31 December)

Proposed Dividend

cash dividend of

stock dividend

AED 7.55 fils

2.45%

per share
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Operating
Highlights
APRIL

JULY

US$1 billion
Waha Capital named by Forbes
Middle East as one of the Middle
East’s 30 Biggest Asset Managers

Public Markets business reaches
milestone of over US$1 billion in assets
under management (AUM)

AUGUST
Haitham Abdulkarim, appointed
Head of Investor Relations
and External Communications

US$500
million
Revolving credit facility
refinanced and increased to
US$500m from US$400m
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SEPTEMBER
Yazid Ben Salem
appointed Head of
Business Development

Hashem Dabbas appointed
Chief Investment Officer,
Private Investments business

OCTOBER

NOVEMBER

World’s
Top 50
Hedge Funds

Waha Capital included
in the MSCI Global Small
Cap Index, MSCI Emerging
Markets Small Cap Index,
MSCI ACWI Small Cap Index

Flagship Waha MENA Equity Fund ranked among
the world’s top 50 hedge funds by the Global
Investment Report
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Chairman’s
Statement

Waleed Al Mokarrab Al Muhairi
Chairman

Stronger Foundations for Growth
Waha Capital delivered strong financial performance
in 2021, reporting a net profit of AED 391 million
(against AED 231 million in 2020). Throughout this
period, the company has continued to demonstrate
its resilience, generating attractive returns while
continuing to develop and position its businesses for
long-term sustainable growth.
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The last quarter of 2021 saw the Private Investments business
activate a new long-term, multi-asset, global investment strategy.
The business has already started leveraging its international
business networks to deploy capital in a targeted manner through
both its Global Opportunities and Core portfolios. A phased
plan was also initiated to derive value from the Legacy portfolio,
which saw it crystallising gains through the divestment of its US
Securities portfolio.

I am pleased to present the annual report and accounts for Waha
Capital for the year ending 31st December 2021.
In a challenging macroeconomic environment that continued
to be adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, Waha
Capital delivered strong financial performance in 2021, reporting
a net profit of AED 391 million (against AED 231 million in
2020). Throughout this period, the company has continued to
demonstrate its resilience, generating attractive returns while
continuing to develop and position its businesses for long-term
sustainable growth.

Waha Capital continues to enjoy a strong balance sheet, with
a robust governance framework that provides confidence to
shareholders and third-party investors. Supported by businesses
that are now well-balanced and diversified across sectors and
geographies, the company has a clear and proven strategy to
create sustainable, long-term shareholder value across market
and business cycles.

With US$1.2 billion of assets under management (AUM), the
Public Markets business extended its impressive multi-year track
record of outperformance, surpassing market benchmarks and
its peer group. In addition, the 87.9% increase in our net profit
is a testament to our flexible investment approach, which has
been designed to weather such periods of market turbulence. The
business is now on a clear growth trajectory, working to expand
its product offering while simultaneously increasing its marketing
efforts to third-party investors.

To conclude, I would like to extend my appreciation to our
employees, senior management and our Board of Directors
for their contribution to the Company’s financial success and
growth in 2021.
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CEO’s
Statement

Ahmed Khalifa Al Mehairi
Chief Executive Officer

Investing in Growth
Reflecting on my first full financial year as CEO of
Waha Capital, I feel an immense sense of pride in
leading a team of outstanding professionals, who are
fully focused on delivering solid returns to our equity
and fund investors.
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only hedge fund based in the MENA region to feature in the ranking.
The team is fully focused on continuing to build the business,
including adding products in a considered manner in response to
market demand.

I am pleased to report that the Company achieved a net profit
of AED 391 million in 2021, which is a 69% increase from a net
profit of AED 231 million in 2020. Our teams have continued to
strengthen our foundations to enable the delivery of further
growth in the coming years.

Meanwhile the Private Investments business is being transformed
under the guidance of Hashem Dabbas, who was appointed as Chief
Investment Officer, in the second half of 2021. Hashem is overseeing
the restructuring of the portfolio and driving the new strategy
with a clear global investment mandate by developing a “Global
Opportunities” and “Core” portfolio.

When I joined Waha Capital, our focus was on ‘course correction’
to address legacy issues and to embark on a new strategy to grow
both the Public Markets and Private Investments businesses. In
2021, the Company turned a corner, delivering solid financial
and operational results. A particular highlight was the adoption
of a new organisational structure and the addition of new talent
across key leadership positions, which will underpin the next
phase of our growth.

Operationally, we have focused on performance excellence, ensuring
our teams are motivated and incentivised to drive growth, while
maintaining a high-level of efficiency. The company’s cost to income
ratio improved to 25% in 2021 from 32% in the previous year.

Our Public Markets business has continued to perform very well;
investment gains and fee income stood at AED 902 million, with
our actively managed credit and equity funds sustaining their
impressive multi-year track records. Our funds continued to
outperform peers and market benchmarks, reporting returns of
7.2% for the CEEMEA Credit Fund, 32.8% for the MENA Equity Fund,
and 9.7% for the Islamic Income Fund. We now have over US$1
billion of assets under management (AUM) and our investment
teams are gaining global recognition. The business is ranked by
Forbes Middle East as one of the Middle East’s 30 Biggest Asset
Managers in the region, and one of the Company’s flagship funds,
the Waha MENA Equity Fund, was recognized this year by the Global
Investment Report as one of the world’s top 50 hedge funds – the

In 2022, Waha Capital’s objective in the coming year is to ensure
that both businesses continue to accelerate the Company’s growth
- driven by a common purpose to leverage our emerging markets
expertise, business networks, and research capabilities to deliver
attractive returns. We will achieve this by continuing to embrace the
world-class governance practices that shareholders and third-party
investors demand from a publicly listed investment manager.
I would like to thank our teams at Waha Capital for their hard work
and commitment to build a world class investment management
firm, and also express my appreciation to the Board of Directors for
their continued guidance and support of our strategy.
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Overview

Public
Markets
Overview of Public Markets Business and Fund Performance

2021 Net Profit

AED 603 million
Assets Under Management (as at 31 December)

AED 4.4 billion
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Total Return by Fund
Waha CEEMEA Credit Fund

Waha MENA Equity Fund

Waha Islamic Income Fund

Total return since inception
(since 2012)

Total return since inception
(since 2014)

Total return since inception
(since 2020)

173.6% 238.0% 14.4%

16.6%
14.4%

10.6%

6.3%

6.4%
2.4%

Benchmark
performance

Annualised
return since
inception

Benchmark
performance

Annualised
return since
inception

Benchmark
performance

Total return
since
inception

*Note that Waha Capital’s funds follow absolute return strategies and are not constrained by benchmarks
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With over US$ 1 billion of assets under management (AUM), the
Public Markets business offers professional investors actively
managed emerging markets credit and equities funds, via a
disciplined approach to investment and implementing distinctive
strategies to deliver consistent, market-leading returns.

offering, deploying the team’s talent to create new strategies
to fulfil unmet demand in the market, while pursuing a
marketing strategy targeted at individual and institutional
investors in the GCC region who seek high performance and
strong risk management.

Led by Chief Investment Officer Mohamed El Jamal, the
business is building on a strong multi-year track record of
outperformance for its flagship funds. It is broadening its fund

The Public Markets business currently offers a range of
emerging market funds: Waha CEEMEA Credit Fund, Waha
MENA Equity Fund and Waha Islamic Income Fund.

Our funds follow a three-pronged investment approach:

A top-down assessment of the
macroeconomic environment

A bottom-up analysis of corporate
fundamentals

A propriety analytical valuation framework
that puts these into perspective

Performance. The business was also ranked by Forbes Middle
East as one of the Middle East’s 30 Biggest Asset Managers in the
region. In addition, the Waha MENA Equity Fund was recognised
by the Global Investment Report as one of the world’s top 50
hedge funds - the only hedge fund based in the MENA region to
feature in the ranking.

Waha Capital’s emerging market funds achieved robust
performances through 2021, successfully navigating a trading
environment that remained volatile and subject to the lingering
effects of the pandemic. In 2021, our flagship CEEMEA Credit Fund
won two top performer awards at the Investors Choice Awards for
EMEA Credit Fund under US$1bn and EMEA Credit Fund Long Term

Annual Report 2021
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Waha CEEMEA Credit Fund - Established in 2012

Total Return
in 2021

Total Return
Since Inception

Annualised Rate
of Return

7.2%

173.6%

10.6%

The fund is an absolute return, long/short fund that invests in both sovereign and corporate emerging market credit; with a regional
focus on Central and Eastern Europe, Middle East and Africa (CEEMEA). This fund is unique from other credit funds due to actively
managed long/short investment strategy, which aims to benefit from market dislocations while containing downside risk.

Waha MENA Equity Fund - Established in 2014

Total Return
in 2021

Total Return
Since Inception

Annualised Rate
of Return

32.8%

238.0%

16.6%

The fund is an absolute return, long/short strategy that invests in Middle East and North Africa (MENA) listed equities. The fund is actively
managed by a highly qualified team with significant experience in the MENA equity markets.

Waha Islamic Income Fund - Established in 2020

Total Return
in 2021

Total Return
Since Inception

9.7%

14.4%

This fund caters to investors seeking yielding, Shari’a-compliant investments and is underpinned by Waha Capital’s expertise built
over the years with its two other funds both in terms of equities and fixed income. The actively managed fund uses both internal
macro and micro-analysis to identify the best investment opportunities in the Shari’a compliant universe, combining both capital
appreciation and income yield.
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Interview
with Mohamed El Jamal, Chief
Investment Officer for Public Markets

"Despite increased
volatility in global equity
and credit markets, the
three funds that we
currently offer to thirdparty investors produced
solid returns."
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How did the Public Markets business perform
in 2021?

will be defensive until we see either a price capitulation or a reversal
in the Fed’s tightening bias.
In the commodity space, we have been outright bullish on
energy and oil since the second half of 2020 and have invested
accordingly. Oil increased another 50% in 2021 and started 2022
with strength as well. The consensus is now bullish on oil prices
for 2022 with some analysts calling a ‘super cycle’ given under
investment in the sector in recent years. We enter 2022 with a
more nuanced and balanced view on oil. Short term, the market
looks tight especially given some of the recent supply disruptions
in Libya and Kazakhstan. Oil demand is expected to be robust,
in the vicinity of 4 million to 5 million barrels per day, depending
on the pace of global GDP growth, however we do see sufficient
supply to meet this incremental demand, stemming from the
OPEC+ monthly additions and non-OPEC incremental supply,
including US shale at current prices.

There was plenty for the Public Markets team to be proud of in 2021,
in particular our strong financial performance, with the business
reporting investment gains and fee income of AED 902 million. We
crossed the important US$1 billion AUM threshold, representing
a key commercial milestone that opens up new opportunities to
pursue larger-ticket mandates from global institutional investors.
We have strengthened our business development team, continued
to engage closely with third-party investors, and taken initial steps
towards further broadening our future fund offering.
Despite increased volatility in global equity and credit markets,
the three funds that we currently offer to third-party investors
produced solid returns, and outperformed relevant benchmarks.
This is testament to our investment strategies, which provide a level
of downside protection, and the ability of our investment teams to
pursue their convictions in a disciplined manner.

As for the markets where we invest, MENA had a stellar year in 2021
and the tailwinds from the underlying drivers of that performance
are still with us. Regional economies are in the process of repairing
their macro imbalances and have successfully implemented
structural reforms to increase non-oil revenues, contain fiscal
expenditure and continue to diversify their economies away from
oil. Better than budgeted oil revenues last year have boosted
foreign exchange reserves, provided ample regional liquidity and
will continue to trickle down to provide above-trend economic
growth in 2022. Most regional economies are dollar pegged, have
strong balance sheets, excess foreign exchange reserves and will
be a good option for emerging market investors nervous about
local currency risk in the context of tighter monetary conditions.
MENA markets tend to fall into the ‘value’ category with little or
no tech exposure, and should be somewhat immune to re-pricing
of the sector. Some of this is already priced in following last year’s
performance and we will be selective on where and how our views
are expressed, both on the long and short side.

Some of the key themes that played out during the year were
a broad based global economic recovery from the lows of the
pandemic, in a context of easy monetary conditions and the
emergence of inflationary pressures. Regionally, the sharp recovery
in oil prices and the structural reforms that have been and continue
to be implemented have all contributed to balance sheet repair of
GCC sovereigns and a better growth backdrop.

What were the biggest challenges you faced in
2021 and how did you manage them?
While we are grateful for the continued connectivity provided by
technology today, there is nothing quite like in-person meetings
with clients and the companies we invest in. With travel disruptions
continuing, it was difficult to meet in person with as many CEOs and
CFOs that we would normally like to, so I hope this will improve in
the coming year. We’re looking forward to being on the road again,
across the emerging market space we invest in.

What are your current business priorities?
Our fundamental objectives of strengthening our position as
a leading emerging markets asset manager out of Abu Dhabi
remain unchanged.

What are the key themes that will impact
emerging capital markets in 2022?
The coming months will bring some of the trickiest market
conditions experienced for many years. We are at an inflection
juncture into tighter monetary conditions, with central banks
putting the brakes on balance sheet expansion, and in some cases,
such as the U.S. Federal Reserve (Fed), balance sheets will start to
shrink in 2022. We are already getting an early taste of rate rises and
the Fed is playing catch-up.

For 2022 in particular, we will firstly aim to navigate the
challenging financial market conditions in the same consistent
fashion we did over the last decade. We continue to raise the
institutional quality of our business and invest in our people,
processes and technology in a way that is commensurate with
the growth of our assets. We aim to further diversify our client
base and increase the proportion of third-party capital invested
in our funds. We already have a phenomenal base of likeminded
global investors, and we will continue to broaden relationships
with institutions, while also developing a partnered distribution
network for our funds. We are increasing our emphasis on all ESG
aspects of our business, and aim to develop a comprehensive ESG
framework across the platform.

We expect inflation to remain well above Fed targets this year, as
we move from merely supply driven inflation into more entrenched
inflationary forces in terms of wage increases and expectations. Our
conviction for this year is that a tighter monetary stance will deflate
financial asset valuations and result in a year of above average
volatility, which is already underway to a certain extent. Our stance
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Private
Investments
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Overview of Private Investments business

2021 Net Loss

AED (86) million
Assets Under Management (as at 31 December)

AED 0.7 billion
The Private Investments business pursues a multi-asset
investment approach, with the flexibility to deploy capital
across diverse sectors and geographies. The team, led by
Hashem Dabbas, who was appointed as Chief Investment
Officer in September 2021, seeks to leverage extensive
international business networks to source deals and form coinvestment partnerships.
Through its Global Opportunities portfolio, Waha Capital
is pursuing a fully flexible, opportunistic global mandate
that targets investments in the alternatives space with high
risk-adjusted returns. The company aims to partner with
like-minded institutional investors who are aligned with
this particular investment strategy; one that is agnostic to
sector, geography, asset class, and capital structure. The first
deployment of capital driven by this strategy was made in
the fourth quarter of 2021.
The Core portfolio within Private Investments targets
stable, cash-generative assets within the MENA region, and

currently includes Anglo-Arabian Healthcare (AAH) as its
anchor asset. As a permanent capital investor, Waha Capital
is uniquely positioned to compound returns by partnering
with businesses for longer investment horizons and through
market cycles. The company will seek to develop the
portfolio by taking controlling or significant minority stakes
in businesses led by best-in-class management teams with
established track records, in sectors underpinned by strong
tailwinds and growth trends.
The third component of the Private Investments business
is the Legacy portfolio, which comprises diversified assets
that Waha Capital intends to manage actively and divest
at the appropriate opportunity. In 2021, the company sold
a portion of its holding in Nasdaq-listed National Energy
Services Reunited Corp (NESR) through a series of open
market transactions, and exited its stake in Deem Finance.
The company also divested the majority of a tactical holding
in U.S. Securities, crystalising solid returns achieved since
the initial investment in May 2020.
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Interview
with Hashem Dabbas, Chief Investment
Officer for Private Investments

"Our aim is to source and
assess a broad range of
investment opportunities
and be selective in
building out a diversified
portfolio aimed at
generating attractive
long-term returns."
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"My initial priorities have been to build out a strong team, conduct
a strategic review of the existing assets and to start implementing
our new strategy."
What have your priorities been since joining as
CIO for Private Investments?

our Private Investments business as a trusted, reliable, and nimble
partner to likeminded leading institutional investors globally. The
first investment we made in this portfolio is emblematic of our
approach, as we executed a structured transaction alongside a U.S.based specialist financial services firm with deep domain expertise,
whom we have known and worked with for many years.

I joined Waha Capital in September 2021, and my initial priorities
have been to build out a strong team, conduct a strategic review
of the existing assets and to start implementing our new strategy
for the Private Investments business. Our go-forward strategy is
to invest across two portfolios: Global Opportunities and Core.
We have also established a Legacy portfolio, comprised of existing
assets that do not fit within the Global Opportunities or Core
portfolio mandates.

Private equity is becoming a popular asset
class at the moment. What differentiates Waha
Capital’s approach?
We believe that our ability, in the Global Opportunities portfolio,
to invest across geographies, industries, capital structures and
asset classes is a truly differentiating characteristic. The fact that
Waha Capital is a permanent capital vehicle, enables us to pursue a
longer-term investment horizon and platform-building mindset in
the Core portfolio.

On the Global Opportunities front, we have started building
a robust pipeline of potential investments across the globe
and have already commenced deploying capital with two new
investments made in Q4 2021.
The Core portfolio was seeded with the Company’s existing healthcare
platform, which we are reorganising to ensure it is best positioned for
growth and ROE accretion in its next phase of evolution.

Importantly, we also benefit from the governance of being a
publicly listed company, supported by strong leadership at the
executive and board-level, which is key to creating successful
partnerships. The nimble decision-making processes across the
Company ensures that our diligence is rigorous and our approach is
agile, which are vital differentiating factors.

On the Legacy portfolio side, we have developed and started to
implement a plan that will look to maximise shareholder value for
each asset. As part of that strategic review, we exited Deem Finance
and took the decision to capitalise on market strength to crystalise
gains across the majority of our U.S. Securities portfolio.

What are your priorities for 2022?

Can you shed more light on the Global
Opportunities investment approach?

The actions taken in Q4 2021 represent the commencement of our
multi-year journey to rebuild the Private Investments business
and construct portfolios that will provide our shareholders with
exposure to a diversified pool of investments.

We apply a global investment strategy that is opportunistic, starting
with an asset-specific bottom-up approach, that is then augmented
with a sectoral and macroeconomic overlay. Our aim is to source
and assess a broad range of investment opportunities and be
selective in building out a diversified portfolio aimed at generating
attractive long-term returns.

Going forward, we plan to ramp up our Global Opportunities
and Core portfolios meaningfully and tactically, reacting nimbly
to evolving market conditions. We want to pursue a dynamic
approach to our investments by taking advantage of opportunities
to monetise assets and reposition our portfolios as appropriate.
Our team aims to pursue and execute a steady pace of transactions,
which requires close collaboration with every part of the Company.

We are leveraging the team’s existing relationships and are looking
to further expand our dealmaking capabilities by firmly positioning

23
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Waha Land
2021 Net Profit

AED 35 million
Assets Under Management (as at 31 December)

AED 0.7 billion
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Waha Land is a wholly owned subsidiary of Waha Capital.
The industrial real estate subsidiary owns and manages
ALMARKAZ in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi, an integrated mixeduse industrial development with Grade “A” industrial and
logistics facilities and first-class infrastructure. ALMARKAZ
is located in Al Dhafra, some 35 kms west of Abu Dhabi, and
is situated to capitalise on easy access to the UAE’s growing
industrial and logistics infrastructure (land, sea, air, and rail).
Phase 1 of ALMARKAZ occupies 1.5 km2 or 25% of the total
site area, and comprises of two stages. Stage 1 involved
the construction of roads and services infrastructure for
all of Phase 1 as well as the construction of 90,000 m2 of

warehouses and small industrial units (SIUs). The SIUs are
leased to tenants from a diverse range of industry segments
including small and medium sized enterprises operating in
industries such as plastic processing, steel fabrication, food
and beverage preparation, oil & gas services, defense and
logistics. Stage 2A saw the further addition of 92,500 m2 of
warehousing and SIUs. The asset has remained resilient
through the global pandemic and maintained 95% occupancy
in 2021. Planning continues for the development of the
remainder of Phase 1, with the aim of bringing on additional
industrial and logistics space to meet the growing needs for
warehouse and SIU space in the UAE.

25
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Organisation and Culture

Our Company

Our vision
To be a global player within emerging markets that invests and delivers strong and
sustainable returns for our shareholders and investors.

Our mission
To deliver steady returns consistently to shareholders and investment partners
facilitated by an experienced team of investment professionals with in-depth market
insights and a broad international network.
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Our promise
In line with best-in-class industry standards, we operate in alignment with robust
corporate governance standards, as an ADX-listed investment management
company. We continue to leverage on our business networks and research
capabilities to deliver attractive returns for shareholders and investors.

Our values
As we operate in a fast-paced industry, the following shared values help us to remain
focused and enable us to create synergies together:
•

Performance-driven – we work hard, and value hard work to achieve our goals

•

Collaboration – we work together with each other, across all levels of the Company to ensure success

•

Accountability – all of our actions are held to account by one another, as well as by our investors and shareholders

•

Ambition – we have a strong determination to be the best in what we do

•

Integrity – we operate following best-in-class industry standards to safeguard and continuously grow our investments

27
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Our
People
Our people are at the core of the value that we create
for our shareholders and investors. We believe that by
attracting and retaining the best talent, we ensure the
ongoing success of our business.

Staff Engagement and Culture Survey

Key Initiatives in 2021

In its second year running, the 2021 Survey is aimed to provide key
indicators and feedback on the work environment at Waha Capital.
Receiving a 98% response rate from all employees, the Survey
revealed insights such as:

#BetterTogether
First introduced in 2020, the #BetterTogether campaign continues
to provide a platform for Waha Capital to link its events and
programmes to better promote motivation, teamwork and
communication amongst colleagues. In 2021, where COVID-19
related measures still continued, through physical distancing and
remote working, the campaign continued to encourage greater
employee engagement and integration between teams through
thematic initiatives across the year.

•	Overall improvement in the relationships between employees,
Company and work in general.
•	Increased trust between managers and staff, where employees
feel empowered and inspired to perform at their best.
•	Increased visibility and understanding of individual work
contributions to the overall success of the Company; and

Fostering Local Talent

•	Greater teamwork and collaboration within business units
is observed.

As a key private sector player in the UAE, Waha Capital is
committed to attracting, recruiting, upskilling and retaining
top local talent. To support this, the Company has in place two
main initiatives:
•

•

The results of the Survey will be used to create medium-to longterms action plans to continue to build a strong culture of employee
engagement and foster a healthy work environment at Waha
Capital. Focus areas would include:

 aha Capital Internship Programme: A four-month structured
W
programme tailored to Emirati graduates, aimed to allow young
talent to explore the various key departments within Waha
Capital to best prepare them for their professional careers.

•	Improved and more effective internal communications such
as regular town halls to foster more collaboration across
business units.

 aha Capital Vacation Scheme: Complementing the structured
W
internship programmes in place, the Vacation Scheme allows
students an opportunity to shadow and work alongside our
employees for a period of two to four weeks to gain insight into
the capital markets and fund management industry.

Annual Report 2021

•	Increase transparency and communicate more openly on Waha
Capital’s shared vision and strategy to all employees; and
•	Create a value driven culture through reward and recognition of
individuals and teams within the Company.
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Environmental, Social,
and Governance (ESG)
Applying the key pillars to manage and
promote our sustainability program

Waha Capital views sustainability in comprehensive terms. We are
committed to ensuring that our organisation remains resilient and
future-proof, and serves the interests of all our stakeholders and
the communities we operate in.

• Sustainable Governance

In furtherance of this commitment, Waha Capital has set itself the
goal of operating a competitive sustainable business that meets
the principles of social and environmental responsibility whilst
also ensuring long term value creation for its stakeholders.

-

Independent Leadership: Our Board remains wholly
independent from our executive management function
with all Board members engaged on a non-executive
basis. We consider that this degree of separation
constitutes a key element to our organisation’s longterm sustainability. Furthermore, all but one of our
Board members is designated as independent for the
purposes of the Code which not only further strengthens
the independence of the leadership function but also
gives our Board the latitude to ensure the Chairpersons
of its established committees (Audit and Nomination
and Remuneration) are also independent thereby
maintaining the sustainable approach via its delegated
functions. We see our valued and independent leadership
as a key component to a long-term sustainable
approach to governance.

-

Investment in Governance: As well as ensuring we have
a sustainable approach to governance at the Board level
of Waha Capital, we ensure that we have the structures
in place to replicate similar approaches to governance
throughout our investments and intermediary
companies. Accordingly, as part of our assessment of
potential investment opportunities (whether as a new
investment or the development of an existing portfolio
investment) due account is taken of the governance
sustainability and the ethical business practices of the
target companies we are seeking to invest into.

In keeping with our commitment and, in line with the ADX’s ESG
Disclosure Guidance for Listed Companies, we continue to focus
our sustainability program around two key pillars – sustainable
governance throughout our organisation and social impact (both
internal and external).

Aligning our decision-making process
with our sustainability program
As an investment company, we seek to focus our strategic,
investment and operational decisions around our sustainability
program (focusing on the two key pillars – sustainable governance
and social impact) and more importantly, we seek to ensure that
all our decisions take into account and are based on the following
principles of corporate responsibility:
•

Environmental, social and governance risks: these form part
of our decisions making process when we are developing
and implementing our strategy, assessing investment
opportunities and further developing portfolio companies.

•

Integrity and transparency: we ensure that our structures,
policies and procedures are in line with all applicable laws
and follow good business practices. We regularly disclose all
information about Waha Capital and its activities, including
public non-financial reporting – this helps our stakeholders to
be able to properly oversee Waha Capital and its activities.

•

Respect for human rights: we seek to promote inclusivity and
diversity, ensure equal opportunities, prevention of child and
forced labour, protection of personal data, respect for labour
and other fundamental human rights.

•

Ethical business practices: we operate in an ethical and
transparent manner and in accordance with the principles of
Waha Capital’s core ethical framework.

•

Employee care: we seek to provide its employees with decent
and safe working conditions and fair compensation.

•

Innovation: we seek to promote innovation by making
decisions that develop businesses and industries that can bring
substantial social, economic and technological benefits to the
regions and local communities in which Waha Capital operates.

•

Respect for the environment: we seek to ensure that we
employ responsible resource management and environmental
safety practices.

Furthermore, our Public Markets and Private Investments
businesses employ investment processes that put an
emphasis on governance and a wide range of ESGrelated risks. This is facilitated by the fact that all our
funds and our direct investment strategies employ a core
bottom-up approach to evaluating potential investments,
ensuring that we stay close to our portfolio companies,
their management teams and the way they manage ESG
risks and opportunities.
-
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Ethical Business Practices: We are committed
to operating in an ethical and transparent way.
Consequently, Waha Capital strictly observes its own
code of conduct, anti-bribery /corruption and anti-money
laundering policies. Furthermore, we expect that our
investee companies and third-party providers act in an
ethical and transparent manner and in accordance with
the principles of Waha Capital’s core ethical framework.
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• Social Impact
-

caters for diversity and provides equal opportunities for
all, irrespective of ethnicity, religion, gender or age. The
principles and practices associated with maintaining an
equal opportunities environment apply to all aspects
of employment at Waha Capital, namely recruitment,
promotion, remuneration, training, work assignments and
disciplinary actions.

Respect for Human Rights: As part of our own operations
and the operations of the companies we invest into, Waha
Capital seeks to ensure, compliance with the provisions
of local and international human rights laws and that all
legal rights of workers are respected; community rights are
addressed and respected; and the rights of clients, patients
and consumers are respected and that all relevant laws are
adhered to. To achieve this, Waha Capital focuses on:
o

Workers’ rights: including decent working conditions
and remuneration, occupational health and safety,
inclusivity and non-discrimination on any grounds,
respect for the honour and dignity of the individuals,
prevention of forced and child labour, freedom of
association and collective bargaining.

o

Community rights: including the right to a safe
environment, access to information, access to socially
important infrastructure, water and cultural facilities,
respect for property rights, respect for traditions and
customs, and respect for the rights of indigenous peoples.

o

-

Our Sustainability Achievements in 2021

Rights of clients, patients and consumers: including
accessibility, safety and quality of products and
services, data privacy and security, availability of
reliable information and prevention of unfair marketing
practices, online safety (especially for children, elderly
people and other vulnerable groups), and assistance in
realisation of the rights to education and health.

• Investment in local talent
Waha Capital has been working in cooperation with
local educational institutions and relevant government
organisations like Abu Dhabi Tawteen Council in order to
create long term employment opportunities for UAE Nationals.
In 2021, 15% of the Company’s employees were UAE nationals
(a significant increase from 2020 which stood at 11%).

Waha Capital has a zero-tolerance approach to human
rights violations in the value chain and expects its
suppliers, contractors and partners to ensure the same
strict compliance with laws and respect for human rights.
-

-

Waha Capital has also been offering summer internships to
UAE university students and has been running a UAE National
graduate program under which three graduates have now
been hired. The program provides UAE national graduates
with a tailored 18 months’ worth of training and development
through on-the-job rotations, professional qualifications and
external training prior to being hired on a permanent basis.
The Company also offers sponsorship to other UAE national
employees to continue their education while working.

Fostering Relationships: Our approach to playing a
positive role in our communities begins within our
organisation, where we put a strong emphasis on
cultivating strong internal and external relationships.
Waha Capital provides employees with opportunities to
grow and thrive, equipping our people with the right tools
to help them reach their full potential and employing a
sophisticated incentivisation programme that rewards
talent, hard work and commitment. As a key private sector
player in Abu Dhabi, we are nurturing Emirati talent in the
financial sector through an internship programme here at
Waha Capital.

• Diversity
In 2021, Waha Capital sponsored the Board Summit in the
UAE, where chairpersons, board members and women
sitting on company boards gathered to discuss and promote
greater gender diversity in the context of the UAE’s economic
development, innovation and sustainability.

Gender Diversity: Waha Capital has a strong commitment
to gender diversity and actively seeks out opportunities to
increase female representation on its own Board and on
the boards of companies that it invests into. More broadly,
Waha Capital continues to actively seek to recruit more
female employees across all areas of its operations and
is committed to providing a working environment that
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Investment into the UAE: We recognise that one of the
key things Waha Capital can do to invest into the UAE is to
nurture UAE national talent, either directly by employing
promising young Emirati graduates or to help their
development generally. We have therefore taken active
steps to attract, recruit and training top local UAE talent.
Separately, we are a frequent contributor of humanitarian
aid, including through the Red Crescent, and will continue
to do so to both support and reflect Abu Dhabi’s overarching sustainability aims. We are a key supporter of the
UAE’s Net Zero by 2050 Strategic Initiative.

• COVID-19 Response
With the exceptional challenges caused by the COVID-19
pandemic, Waha Capital was also able to contribute tangibly
to the UAE’s response by providing treatment of infected
residents through its investments in the UAE healthcare sector.
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Our Sustainability in Numbers

Board and Committees:

7 Board members, all of which are
non-executive and 6 of which are independent.
Audit Committee and Nomination and Remuneration Committee consist of a
majority of independent Board members and both committees are chaired by
independent Board members.

Investment in local talent

Gender diversity

36%
increase
30%

11%

15%
70%

2020

2021

In 2021, 15% of the Company’s employees were UAE nationals

70% male / 30% female as at end of 2021

Regulatory breaches/violations

Zero material regulatory
breaches/violations in 2021.
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Risk
Management
Risk management is an integral part of Waha Capital’s
operations and supports the primary objective of creating
long-term shareholder value by leveraging our expertise
in managing investments, which necessarily involves
undertaking financial risk.

The Company has implemented an integrated enterprise
management system that establishes a control environment,
sets the risk appetite, approves policies and delegates
responsibilities under the Company’s risk management
framework. Operating as one of the second lines of defence,
the risk management function assists the Company and its
businesses in developing appropriate risk identification and
mitigation measures. Under Waha Capital’s risk management
framework, the Company applies a bottom-up approach in order
to identify and map the Company’s risks and then integrate
those risks into the Company’s overall risk framework.

Reporting

Waha Capital’s risk management framework is managed by an
independent risk management team and constantly monitors
and highlights the various types of risk that the Company may be
exposed to. Periodic risk reporting is provided to both the senior
management of the Company and the Board.

Risk Management – Public Markets

Reporting is a critical part of the Company’s risk management
function. Regular reports (weekly, monthly and quarterly
reports) are generated and shared with relevant teams
and internal bodies to ensure that the Company’s risks are
channelled across all the businesses and regularly monitored by
the Company’s senior management.
In addition, regular risk workshops are also organised for the
Company’s senior management and Board in order to create risk
awareness and continue to foster an overall risk management culture.

For the Public Markets business, a comprehensive risk management
framework has been developed, which applies strict compliance
and risk monitoring policies covering market risk, operational
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk for all assets under its scope. The
framework also includes value-at-risk analysis, soft and hard stop
loss triggers, interest rates, foreign exchange, credit and macro
hedging processes.

Risk Committee
Waha Capital has established a management level risk committee
which helps to ensure that the Company’s risk management
processes are in place to measure, monitor, manage and mitigate
significant risk exposures for the Company.

Risk Management – Private Investments
For the Private Investments business, risks are continuously assessed,
controlled and managed through a comprehensive framework with
clearly defined roles and responsibilities – starting at the Board-level
and permeating through senior management and other levels within
the organisation. Waha Capital has implemented an Enterprise
Risk Management process for its Private Investments assets to help
protect and create value for the Company’s stakeholders.

This risk committee meets at regular intervals in order to review
specific risks and to monitor the Company’s overall risk exposure
against its defined risk appetite. Based on the recommendations
and findings of our risk committee, we then seek to implement
additional risk mitigation measures in order to properly address
the Company’s risks.
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Corporate
Governance
Waha Capital maintains a robust corporate governance
framework, in line with international best practice and
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, in
order to create long-term sustainable value for all its
stakeholders. The framework is designed to ensure that the
Company upholds the highest standards of consistency,
responsibility, accountability and transparency at all levels
across the organisation.

The Board of Directors of Waha Capital, which is responsible for
the strategic guidance of the Company and effective monitoring of
management, comprises seven non-executive directors, six of whom
are classified as independent according to the Corporate Governance
Code. In 2021, the Board met seven times, and were supported
by three committees: the Audit Committee; the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee; and the Insider Dealing Committee.

Waha Capital operates a rigorous internal control system that ensures
that the Board and management are able to achieve their business
objectives in a prudent manner. It establishes effective and efficient
safeguards for the interests of the Company’s shareholders and other
stakeholders, while minimising key risks, such as fraud, unauthorised
business activity, misleading financial statements, uninformed risktaking, or breaches of legal or contractual obligations.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in regards to financial
reporting and external and internal audits and controls. This
includes the review, and oversight of the integrity of annual and
interim financial statements, developing and applying the policy
for contracting external auditors, as well as oversight over the
internal audit function.

The Company’s governance structure is founded on a
comprehensive series of policies that are regularly reviewed
to ensure they remain appropriate and relevant to corporate
strategy, the operating environment and the regulatory landscape.
They include detailed policies on Corporate Governance, Code
of Conduct, Insider Dealing, Disclosure Practices, Related Party
Transactions, Conflicts of Interest, Anti-Bribery and Corruption,
Anti-Money Laundering & Counter Financing of Terrorism Policy,
Whistleblowing, and Diversity & Inclusion.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee assists the Board
in relation to the composition and formation of the Board of
Directors and its committees. It is responsible for evaluating the
range of skillsets, experience and knowledge of the Board and its
committees, as well as its size, structure and composition.

Waha Capital is committed to ensuring that all employees
understand and are aware of the corporate governance
framework and all policies, while promoting a culture of individual
responsibility and accountability at every level of the Company.

The Insider Dealing Committee administers, and oversees
compliance with, the Company’s Share Dealing Policy and
regularly monitors dealing in Waha Capital’s shares to reduce the
risk of any unauthorised dealings by the Company’s Directors,
officers and employees.

For detailed information about Waha Capital’s corporate
governance framework, please see the Company’s Corporate
Governance Report for 2021.
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Board of Directors

Mr. Waleed Al Mokarrab Al Muhairi
Chairman

Experience
Mr. Al Muhairi is the Deputy Group Chief
Executive Officer of Mubadala Investment
Company, where he has strategic oversight
of the company’s broad investment portfolio
and special projects at the group level.
Mr. Al Muhairi is also a member of
Mubadala's Investment Committee, which
is mandated to develop the company's
investment policies, establish investment
guidelines, and review proposed projects
and investments to ensure they are in line
with business objectives. He is also the
Chairman of Mubadala's new investment
and business planning committee, which
approves deals within a certain financial
threshold in addition to the responsibility
of annual and multi-year business
planning. Furthermore, Mr. Al Muhairi has
oversight of the Real Estate &
Infrastructure and Disruptive platforms.
He currently serves as Chairman of
Cleveland Clinic Abu Dhabi, Waha Capital,
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Global Institute for Disease Elimination
(GLIDE), the US-UAE Business Council, and
Mubadala Health. In addition, Mr. Al Muhairi
is a member of the Board of Trustees of
Cleveland Clinic in the United States. He is
also a board member of Aldar, Noon.com,
First Abu Dhabi Bank (FAB), Hub71, Ellipses
Pharma Limited, and Investcorp.
Mr. Al Muhairi was one of the principal
architects behind the Abu Dhabi 2030
Economic Vision. Prior to joining
Mubadala, he worked with the UAE Offsets
Program Bureau as a Senior Project
Manager. Past roles include working with
McKinsey & Company as a commercial and
governmental consultant.

Qualifications
Mr. Al Muhairi holds a Master’s Degree in
Public Policy from Harvard University, and
a Bachelor of Science Degree in Foreign
Service in Economics and Finance from
Georgetown University, USA.
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Mr. Ahmed Al Dhaheri

Mr. Rashed Al Ketbi

Mr. Mohamed Al Nowais

Vice Chairman

Director

Director

Experience

Experience

Experience

Mr. Al Dhaheri is the Honorary Chairman of
Ali and Sons Holdings LLC and the Chairman
of FoodCo Holdings PJSC. He is also a board
member of Al Wathba National Insurance
Company Co PJSC, Abu Dhabi Aviation PJSC
and Al Ramz Corporation. In addition, he is
the Founder and Chairman of AAK
Investment – Sole Proprietorship LLC.

Mr. Al Ketbi is the current Chairman of the
Board of the RDK Group. He is also Vice
Chairman and Managing Director of
Al Wathba National Insurance Company
PJSC and Foodco Holding PJSC. He currently
serves on the board of Darwish Bin Ahmed
& Sons Co LLC.

Mr. Al Nowais is the Managing Director of
AMEA Power, a developer, owner, and
operator of renewable and thermal power
projects in Africa, the Middle East and Asia.
He is also an Executive Director at AlNowais
Investments Company. Previously,
Mr. Al Nowais worked as an Investment
Associate at the Abu Dhabi Investment
Authority (ADIA), as well as an Investment
Banking Analyst with J.P. Morgan in New York,
USA. Following his graduation, he completed
multiple internships with international
financial institutions including HSBC in
Abu Dhabi and Citi Bank in London, UK.

Qualifications
Mr. Al Dhaheri is a Certified Public Accountant
in California and holds a Bachelor's degree
in accounting from Seattle Pacific University
Washington, USA. Mr. Al Dhaheri also holds
a Higher Diploma in Business Administration
(specialising in accounting) from the Higher
Colleges of Technology, Abu Dhabi, UAE.

Qualifications
Mr. Al Ketbi holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Commerce from Indiana University and a
Master of Business Administration from the
St Louis University of Management USA.

Mohamed is a Board member for Al Dhafra
Insurance Company P.S.C. and Abu Dhabi
National Industrial Projects (ADNIP).

Qualifications
Mr. Al Nowais holds a Bachelor’s Degree with
joint honours in Economics and Business
Finance from Brunel University in London, UK.
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Mr. Rasheed Al Omaira

H.E. Nader Al Hammadi

Mr. Homaid Al Shimmari

Director

Director

Director

Experience

Experience

Experience

Mr. Al Omaira holds board positions for
Al Wathba National Insurance Company and
Abu Dhabi National Company for Building
Materials (Bildco) and he was the Chairman
of Vision Capital Brokerage Company.

H.E. Nader Al Hammadi is an established
member of the Abu Dhabi business community.

Mr. Al Shimmari is the Deputy Group CEO
and Chief Corporate & Human Capital Officer
in Mubadala Investment Company. He has
an oversight of Mubadala’s Business Services,
Enterprise Technology Services, Government
Affairs, Construction Management Service,
Employee Career Growth, Talent Acquisition,
Learning and Development, Performance
Management and Emiratisation.

Mr. Al Omaira is the Chief Executive Officer
of Abu Dhabi National Company for Building
Materials (Bildco), an Abu Dhabi Securities
Exchange listed company which has three
subsidiaries (Bildco Reinforcing Steel Services
Est., Bildco Aerated Concrete Products LLC,
and Bildco Cement Products LLC). Bildco
Steel Industries provides and manufactures
building products for residential and
commercial construction projects.
Mr. Al Omaira has over 24 years of experience
in leading businesses. He has led his family
business Omaira Group of Companies and
manages the daily business and assets,
ensuring it maintains profitability and
revenue growth. Mr. Al Omaira was also the
CEO of Vision Capital Brokerage Company
between 2006 and 2010.

He is the Chairman of Abu Dhabi Aviation, and
Emirates Reem Investment Company (ERC).
He also holds board positions at several
companies including Royal Jet, Abu Dhabi
Airports and Emirates Driving Company.
He began his career in 1990 at Abu Dhabi
Aircraft Technologies (ADAT). He held several
positions and was instrumental in establishing
GAMAERO, a joint venture between Gamco
and Aerospatiale, where he served as its
Executive Director. He joined Presidential
Flight in 1996 and held several Key
Management positions and was appointed
Managing Director and CEO in 2014.
He has 30 years of work experience which
includes 15 years in managing public and
private joint-stock companies covering several
sectors, including real estate investment and
aviation management as well as his
experience in the hotel, construction,
manufacturing and mining sector.

Qualifications
He graduated from Embry Riddle
Aeronautical University in Florida, USA in 1990
and holds a Bachelor of Science in Aviation
Electronics (Avionics). He Post-graduated in
Engineering Business Management from
Warwick University in London, UK in 2002 and
participated in “The Advanced Management
Programme” held at INSEAD in
Fountainebleau, France in March 2007.
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Prior to the merger of Mubadala
Development Company and International
Petroleum Investment Company (IPIC),
Mr. Al Shimmari was the CEO of the Aerospace
and Engineering Services platform in
Mubadala. His main focus was driving
forward the strategic vision and plans for
developing technologically advanced
industries within Abu Dhabi and the UAE, in
addition to ensuring Mubadala is well
positioned to become a key global aerospace,
ICT and Defence player.
Mr. Al Shimmari is the Chairman of Maximus
Air Cargo and board Member of Abu Dhabi
Aviation. Mr. Al Shimmari is likewise a
Member on the Board of Trustees for UAE
University and Khalifa University of Science,
Technology and Research.

Qualifications
Mr. Al Shimmari holds a Bachelor of Science in
Aeronautical Engineering from Embry Riddle
Aeronautical University, USA. He holds a black
belt in Six Sigma from General Electric, a
highly disciplined leadership program.

Executive
Management

Ahmed Khalifa Al Mehairi
Chief Executive Officer

As Chief Executive Officer of Waha Capital,
Mr. Al Mehairi drives the overall direction
and strategy of the company, seeking
to build on its diversified investment
portfolio and generating greater returns
for its stakeholders and shareholders.
Prior to his appointment at Waha Capital, Mr. Al Mehairi was a senior investment
professional at the Global Special Situations Department of the Abu Dhabi Investment
Council (ADIC). Before joining ADIC in 2008, he worked in the field of equities investments
at Abu Dhabi Investment Authority (ADIA).
He has extensive experience within a wide range of asset classes and sectors in the field of
Asset Management and Investments. He is currently a member of the Board of Directors
at the Abu Dhabi Chamber of Commerce and Industry and a member of the Board of
Directors at Abu Dhabi National Hotels Company PJSC. He previously served on the
Boards of Al Dar Properties PJSC, Etihad Airways, Abu Dhabi National Energy Company
(TAQA), TAQA Morocco, Al Dhabi Investments, National Health Insurance Company
(Daman), Massar Solutions, Foodco Holding, Aseel Finance and Sorouh Real Estate.
Mr. Al Mehairi holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Finance from The John Molson School of
Business at Concordia University in Montreal, Canada. He has also completed the General
Management Program at Harvard Business School.
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Simon Reeves
Chief Financial Officer

Simon Reeves joined Waha Capital from J.P. Morgan in London, where as CFO, he had
led the firm’s financial function and was instrumental in improving performance
across a number of the company’s business divisions including private banking and
investment management in Hong Kong, Japan and Brazil.
Simon brings close to 20 years of financial management experience and an extensive
background in financial management, strategic planning and budget control.
He is a Chartered Global Management Accountant and holds a Master of Science in
Strategic Business Management from Manchester Metropolitan University in the UK.

Mohamed El Jamal
Chief Investment Officer, Public Markets

Mr. El Jamal joined Waha Capital in 2010 and since that time, he has been
instrumental in setting-up and leading Waha Capital’s Public Markets business. He
is the CIO and lead PM of the Waha CEEMEA Credit Fund SP and the Waha MENA
Equity Fund SP, both of which have a long-term track record of outperformance
and have consistently ranked in the top percentile of their respective peer groups.
Under Mr. El Jamal’s leadership, Waha Capital’s Public Markets business has attracted
third party capital from a high quality mix of international and regional investors. Mr. El
Jamal has 17 years of professional experience investing across the capital structure,
including public credit, equities as well as private markets. Prior to joining Waha
Capital, he worked for Société Générale Corporate & Investment Banking in London
focusing on equity and debt financing transactions across Europe and the Middle East.
Mr. El Jamal holds a Master’s Degree in Financial Engineering, which he obtained with
Honors, from ESSEC Business School in France, he has also completed the High
Potential Leadership Program at Harvard Business School.
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Hashem Dabbas
Chief Investment Officer, Private Investments

Hashem Dabbas leads Waha Capital’s Private Investments business. He is responsible
for a broad global investment mandate, that is executed through two portfolios –
“Global Opportunities” and “Core”. The fully flexible Global Opportunities portfolio
targets investments in the alternatives space with high risk-adjusted returns. The Core
portfolio targets stable, cash-generative assets within the MENA region.
Prior to joining Waha Capital in 2021, Mr. Dabbas was Head of Special Situations
- Energy & Industrials at the Abu Dhabi Investment Council (ADIC). Previously, he was
an investment banker with Morgan Stanley in New York.
Mr. Dabbas holds a BSc in Materials Science & Engineering with a Double Minor in
Economics and Management from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT).

Yazid Ben Salem
Head of Business Development

As the Head of Business Development at Waha Capital, Mr. Ben Salem is tasked to
accelerate the growth of Waha Capital, both regionally and internationally. Building on
the successes of Waha Capital, Mr. Ben Salem will expand the product portfolio and
broaden third-party investments.
With over a decade of experience in the Middle East asset management industry,
Mr. Ben Salem joins Waha Capital from Russell Investments in Dubai, UAE, where he
developed lasting strategic relationships and raised funding for multi-asset mandates
from regional and emerging markets investors.
Mr. Ben Salem holds a Master’s degree in Engineering from École Centrale de Lyon in
France and is also certified by the Chartered Alternative Investment Analyst (CAIA)
Association. He is fluent in three major languages – Arabic, English and French.
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Haitham Abdulkarim
Head of Investor Relations and External Communications

Mr. Abdulkarim joined the Company in August 2021 and is the head of the Company’s
Investor Relations and External Communications functions.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Abdulkarim was responsible for Fundraising and Investor
Relations at Samena Capital, a pan-Asian private equity investor with US$1 billion in assets
under management. In this role, he was involved in fundraising for investment
opportunities across Asia and the Middle East from global and regional investors.
Mr. Abdulkarim was also an investment banker at HSBC Global Banking and Markets
in Dubai, where he advised Middle Eastern companies, family offices and
governments on M&A transactions and fundraising.
Starting his career in Singapore, Mr. Abdulkarim was part of the Mergers &
Acquisitions team at BNP Paribas CIB and also the Corporate Finance Advisory team
at Deutsche Morgan Grenfell & Partners.
He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Finance, Accounting & Management from the
University of Nottingham, United Kingdom.

Paul Myers
General Counsel and Company Secretary

Mr. Paul Myers joined the Company in August 2020 and is responsible for the Company’s legal
and regulatory affairs, corporate governance, compliance and company secretarial functions.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Myers held senior legal roles in AFK Sistema, one of
Russia’s largest public investment companies and in Redline Capital, a Luxembourg
regulated funds management group. Prior to this, Mr. Myers worked for Allen & Overy
where he advised both private enterprises and listed companies on high value global
transactions across a number of industry sectors.
Mr. Myers brings close to 20 years of experience including complex public and private
mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures and private equity, fund structuring and
compliance and corporate governance.
Mr. Myers holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree from the University of New South Wales
and a Bachelor of Laws Degree from the University of New England.
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Chairman’s
Report
Dear Shareholders,
I am pleased to report that Waha Capital PJSC achieved a net profit of AED 391 million in 2021, an increase of 69% from the
previous year. The company displayed considerable resilience during a challenging macroeconomic environment, characterised
by heightened geopolitical uncertainty, ongoing disruption due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and rising global inflation.
Despite this, I am proud to report the Company continued to develop and position both the Public Markets and Private Investments
businesses for further growth. Waha Capital’s total assets under management (AUM) grew to AED 5.84 billion, by year end.
2021 saw the Public Markets business reach US$1.2 billion of assets under management, a significant milestone that creates
new opportunities for our funds to attract a wider range of institutional investors as well as larger ticket sizes. Our flagship credit
and equity funds outpaced relative industry benchmarks during the year, continuing their remarkable multi-year track record of
outperformance, and producing attractive returns on both our own invested capital and for third-party investors.
The second half of 2021 saw the Private Investments business activate a new investment strategy. With a new team in place,
the business began to deploy capital in line with its flexible “Global Opportunities” strategy, making its first investments in
this portfolio with further transactions in the pipeline for next year. Following a strategic review, the team has continued to
implement a multi-year value creation plan for its Core and Legacy portfolios.
While the international operating environment remains uncertain, Waha Capital’s strong financial and operating performance in
2021 provides a solid foundation for future growth.
I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the UAE’s leadership for their unparalleled efforts to steer both
the country and the economy through what remains of the pandemic.
I would also like to thank the management and employees at Waha Capital for their contributions, and to congratulate them for
achieving strong financial results in 2021.

Mr. Waleed Al Muhairi
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Independent Auditor’s
Report to the Shareholders
Al Waha Capital PJSC

Report on the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

Opinion

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Al Waha
Capital PJSC (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Valuation of financial investments
As disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 December 2021, the Group had financial investments
measured at fair value amounting to AED 6,414 million,
representing 67% of total assets. Included in those are financial
investments which require significant unobservable inputs in
estimating fair value, and hence categorised within level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy. As at 31 December 2021, 5% of financial
investments measured at fair value were categorised within level
3. Due to the significance of financial investments measured at
fair value, and the uncertainty in valuation involving significant
judgement for unlisted equity and fund investments, valuation of
these financial investments is considered a key audit matter.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for opinion
We have conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Codes of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (the “IESBA Code”) together
with the other ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the United Arab
Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

As part of our audit procedures, we have:
•	Evaluated and tested the design and operating effectiveness
of key controls related to valuation of financial instruments,
independent price verification, and independent model
validation and approval.
•	Evaluated the valuation techniques, inputs and assumptions
through comparison with the valuation techniques commonly
used in the markets, validation of observable inputs using
external market data, and comparison with valuation outcomes
obtained from various pricing sources.
•	For valuations which used significant unobservable inputs,
such as unlisted equity investments and unquoted fund
investments, we involved our internal valuation specialists
in assessing the models used, re-performing independent
valuations, and analysing the sensitivities of valuation results
to key inputs and assumptions.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
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Recognition and valuation of investment properties

cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

As disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group’s investment properties amounted to AED 711 million
representing 7.42% of total assets as at 31 December 2021.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed or
the other information obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s
opinion, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

The investment properties arose from the recognition of a
portion of the land granted by the Abu Dhabi Government. The
Group accounts for investment properties initially at cost and
subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss. The Group uses independent valuers to determine
the fair value of the investment properties on an annual basis.
As the fair value is determined based on level 3 valuation
methodologies, it requires management to apply significant
judgement in determining the fair value of investment properties. We
have identified the recognition and valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter in view of the significant judgments involved.

Responsibilities of management and those
charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IFRSs and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company and the
UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended), and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of our audit procedures, we have:
•	Obtained an understanding of the design and implementation
of key controls around the underlying processes and
methodologies implemented by management in recognizing
and performing valuation of investment properties;
•	Assessed the external valuer’s competence, capabilities and
objectivity by perusing their terms of engagement with the
Group to determine whether there were any matters that
might have affected their objectivity or may have imposed any
scope limitations in their work;

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management
is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

•	Involved our real estate specialists to assist us in evaluating
the assumptions and methodologies of both management
and the external valuer. With the assistance of our real estate
specialists, we have assessed whether the valuations were
performed in accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors Valuation Professional Standards;

The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

•	Gained an understanding of both management and the external
valuer’s valuation methodologies (e.g., income capitalisation
approach, residual value method) and their assumptions applied
such as rental yields, discount rates etc. by comparing yields on a
sample of similar properties and by evaluating the extent to which
the movements in valuations were consistent with our industry
knowledge and comparable market transactions;

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISA will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

•	Compared a sample of key inputs used in the valuation models,
such as rental income, occupancy and current tenancy contracts
to lease contracts to ensure the accuracy of the information
supplied to the external valuer by management; and
•	Evaluated management’s established criteria for recognition of
government grants for reasonability.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Other information

We also:

Other information consists of the information included in the
Chairman’s Report, Management’s Discussion and Analysis and
Annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the Chairman’s
Report and Management Discussion and Analysis prior to the date
of our audit report, and we expect to obtain the Annual Report
after the date of our auditor’s opinion. The Board of Directors and
management are responsible for the other information.

•	Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements

•	Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

As required by UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended), we
report that for the year ended 31 December 2021:

•	Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

i)	we have obtained all the information and explanations we
considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

•	Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

ii)	the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
and comply, in all material respects, with the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as
amended) and the Memorandum and Articles of Association
of the Company;
iii)	the Group has maintained proper books of account;
iv)	the financial information included in the Chairman’s Report
is consistent with the books of account of the Group;
v)	Investment in shares and stocks are included in note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements and include purchases
and investment made by the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2021;

•	Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

vi)	note 25 to the consolidated financial statements reflects the
disclosures relating to material related party transactions
and the terms under which they were conducted;

•	Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

vii)	based on the information that has been made available to us
nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe
that the Company has contravened, during the financial year
ended 31 December 2021, any of the applicable provisions
of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended) or of
its Memorandum and Articles of Association which would
materially affect its activities or its consolidated financial
position as at 31 December 2021; and

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

viii)	note 23 to the consolidated financial statements discloses
social contributions made during the year ended 31
December 2021.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Signed by
Raed Ahmad

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December
Note

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Property and equipment, net

7

36,392

46,368

Right-of-use assets

19

99,649

113,550

Investment property

8

711,422

715,989

Goodwill and intangible assets

9

78,983

79,080

Loan investments

10

-

45,003

Investments in equity-accounted associates and joint ventures

11

170,242

472,076

Financial investments

12

6,414,024

6,163,043

15,604

15,224

ASSETS

Inventories
Trade and other receivables

13

641,900

526,796

Cash and bank balances

14

1,421,350

704,684

9,589,566

8,881,813

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital

15

1,944,515

1,944,515

Treasury shares

15

(267,184)

(267,184)

1,089,852

848,229

544,666

505,847

3,311,849

3,031,407

1,479,541

1,118,188

4,791,390

4,149,595

4,117,198

4,211,842

26,288

26,058

Retained earnings
Reserves
Equity attributable to the Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

5.2

Total equity

Liabilities
Borrowings

16

End of service benefit provision
Derivative liabilities

17

100,626

29,907

Lease liabilities

19

119,918

126,383

Trade and other liabilities

18

434,146

338,028

Total liabilities

4,798,176

4,732,218

Total equity and liabilities

9,589,566

8,881,813

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 February 2022 and signed on their behalf by:

Waleed Al Mokarrab Al Muhairi

Ahmed Khalifa Al Mehairi

Simon Reeves

Chairman

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
for the year ended 31 December
Note

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Revenue from sale of goods and services

20

301,940

301,589

Cost of sale of goods and services

20

(246,733)

(237,086)

55,207

64,503

Gross profit
Share of loss from equity-accounted associates and joint ventures,
net

11

(11,488)

(24,356)

Impairment of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures, net

11

(77,970)

(9,915)

50,511

-

Gain on disposal of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures
Income from financial investments

21

874,429

605,024

Gain on settlement of loan investments

10

-

11,244

Income from investment property, net

8

47,903

39,578

Other income / (expense), net

22

8,036

(28,401)

946,628

657,677

Net operating income

General and administrative expenses

23

(239,537)

(212,106)

Finance cost, net

24

(97,436)

(105,674)

609,655

339,897

Owners of the Company

391,038

230,969

Non-controlling interests

218,617

108,928

Profit for the year

609,655

339,897

0.213

0.126

Profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the Owners
of the Company (AED)
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15

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

609,655

339,897

Share of changes in other reserves of equity-accounted associates and joint
ventures (note 11.2)

(279)

(4,298)

Release of share of other reserves of equity-accounted associates and joint
ventures upon disposal (note 11.2)

(6)

-

(285)

(4,298)

609,370

335,599

Owners of the Company

390,753

226,671

Non-controlling interests

218,617

108,928

Total comprehensive income for the year

609,370

335,599

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss) / income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Other comprehensive loss for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December
Share capital
AED ‘000

Treasury shares
AED ‘000

Retained earnings
AED ‘000

Statutory reserve
AED ‘000

At 1 January 2020

1,944,515

(267,184)

648,650

486,991

Profit for the year

-

-

230,969

-

Other comprehensive loss

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income / (loss)

-

-

230,969

-

Transfer to statutory reserve

-

-

(23,097)

23,097

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

-

-

(8,293)

-

Redemptions by non-controlling interests,
net (note 5.2)

-

-

-

-

At 31 December 2020

1,944,515

(267,184)

848,229

510,088

At 1 January 2021

1,944,515

(267,184)

848,229

510,088

Profit for the year

-

-

391,038

-

Other comprehensive loss

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income / (loss)

-

-

391,038

-

(110,311)

-

Cash dividend (note 17)
Transfer to statutory reserve

-

-

(39,104)

39,104

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

-

-

-

-

Contributions from non-controlling
interests, net (note 5.2)

-

-

-

-

1,944,515

(267,184)

1,089,852

549,192

At 31 December 2021
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Other reserves
AED ‘000

Total reserves
AED ‘000

Equity attributable to
Owners of the Company
AED ‘000

Non-controlling
interests
AED ‘000

Total equity
AED ‘000

57

487,048

2,813,029

1,345,715

4,158,744

-

-

230,969

108,928

339,897

(4,298)

(4,298)

(4,298)

-

(4,298)

(4,298)

(4,298)

226,671

108,928

335,599

-

23,097

-

-

-

-

-

(8,293)

(2,524)

(10,817)

-

-

-

(333,931)

(333,931)

(4,241)

505,847

3,031,407

1,118,188

4,149,595

(4,241)

505,847

3,031,407

1,118,188

4,149,595

-

-

391,038

218,617

609,655

(285)

(285)

(285)

-

(285)

(285)

(285)

390,753

218,617

609,370

-

-

(110,311)

-

(110,311)

-

39,104

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

142,736

142,736

(4,526)

544,666

3,311,849

1,479,541

4,791,390
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December
Note

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

609,655

339,897

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property and equipment, net

7

16,726

18,362

Depreciation on right-of-use assets

19

14,687

13,915

Finance cost, net

24

97,436

105,674

3,557

2,621

(874,429)

(605,024)

Charge for employees’ end of service benefits
Income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Share of loss from equity-accounted associates and joint ventures, net

11

11,488

24,356

Impairment of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures, net

11

77,970

9,915

(50,511)

-

Gain on disposal of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

22

-

(2,191)

Gain on disposal of investment property

8

(1,566)

(2,607)

Dividend from equity-accounted associates and joint ventures

11

18,603

13,907

-

37,443

Other expense
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets

9

381

453

(Reversal) / impairment of loan investment

10

(972)

972

Provision for expected credit losses

18,712

10,396

Receipt on disposal of investment in asset held for sale and equityaccounted joint venture

134,841

-

Investments in financial assets at FVTPL

803,325

518,387

(371,218)

(302,652)

(41,688)

(53,349)

(8,376)

(8,508)

-

(11,244)

(380)

(2,518)

(128,986)

177,884

96,118

(238,186)

Loans repaid for financial assets at FVTPL

16

Finance cost paid on loans obtained against financial assets at FVTPL
Interest expense on lease liabilities

19

Gain on settlement of loan
Changes in working capital:
Change in inventories
Change in trade and other receivables
Change in trade and other liabilities
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2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Net cash generated from operations

425,373

47,903

Employees’ end of service benefits paid

(3,327)

(6,393)

Net cash generated from operating activities

422,046

41,510

Note

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangibles, net

9

(284)

(93)

Payments made for development of investment property

8

(1,697)

(7,542)

Purchase of property and equipment, net

7

(6,750)

(7,317)

5.3

-

(480)

5,800

2,600

-

35,000

1,189

7,388

(1,742)

29,556

Finance cost paid on borrowings

(68,282)

(58,098)

Lease liabilities principal paid

(7,251)

(8,452)

Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash disposed
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties
Wakala deposit placed
Interest received
Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Loans repaid

16

(354,080)

(602,446)

Loans obtained

16

647,575

893,649

-

23,527

45,975

(45,975)

(110,311)

-

Contributions / (redemptions) by non-controlling interest holders, net

142,736

(333,931)

Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities

296,362

(131,726)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

716,666

(60,660)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

704,684

765,344

1,421,350

704,684

Proceeds from loan settlement
Loan investment repaid / (provided)
Dividends paid

15

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

14
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(c) Functional currency and presentation currency

Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

The functional currency of the Company is the US Dollar (“US$”).
The individual financial statements of each Group company are
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment
in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of
these consolidated financial statements, the results and
financial position of the Group are presented in United Arab
Emirates Dirhams (“AED”), which is the Group’s presentation
currency. All financial information presented in AED has been
rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

1. Legal status and principal activities
Al Waha Capital PJSC (the “Company”) is a public joint stock
company with limited liability, formed in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi,
United Arab Emirates, by Emiri Decree No. 10 dated 20 May 1997
and incorporated on 12 July 1997.
These consolidated financial statements comprise the results and
financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates
and jointly controlled entities (“associates and joint ventures”).

(d) New and revised IFRS
(i)	New and revised IFRSs adopted with no material effect on
the consolidated financial statements

The Group invests in a wide range of sectors, including public markets,
industrial real estate, infrastructure, healthcare, fintech and oil and gas.

	In the current year, the Group has applied a number of
standards and amendments to IFRSs issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are
mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins
on or after 1 January 2021, as follows:

2. Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
and applicable requirements of the UAE laws.

New and revised IFRSs

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (Amendments
to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16)

1 January 2021

Amendments to IFRS 16: Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

1 April 2021

(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment property and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
below. Certain comparative figures have been reclassified, wherever
necessary, to conform to the presentation adopted in the current
period consolidated financial statements.

	The application of these revised and new IFRSs has not had
any material impact on the amounts reported for the current
and prior years but may affect the accounting for future
transactions or arrangements.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
consider those characteristics when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of IFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or
value in use in IAS 36.

(ii)	New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective and not
early adopted
	The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:
• 	Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;
• 	Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and
• 	Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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New and revised IFRSs

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current

1 January 2024

Amendments to IFRS 3 - Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use

1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS 37 - Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

1 January 2022

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020
(Amendments to IFRS 1, 9 and 16 and IAS 41)

1 January 2022

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

1 January 2023

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 8 - Definition of
Accounting Estimates

1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

1 January 2023

3. Significant accounting policies

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to Owners of the Company.

(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
(i) Subsidiaries
	Consolidation of a subsidiary is achieved when the Company
obtains control over the investee and ceases when the
Company loses control of the investee. Control is achieved
when the Company:
•

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and the liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9, or when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or a joint venture.

has power over the investee;

•	is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and
•

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Company gains control until the date when
the Company ceases to control the investee.

(ii) Business combinations

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the Owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.

All intragroup balances, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows resulting from intragroup transactions are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Company's voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's
net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests'
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree's identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

•	the size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
•	potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;
•

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination.

•	any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need
to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders' meetings.
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The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in
accordance with IFRS 9, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount, Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or
joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition
in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity
method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the
associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

(iii) Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting, except when
the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale,
in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group's share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.
When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain
or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.
(iv) Associates designated at FVTPL
Interests in associates that are held as part of the Group’s
investment portfolio are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value. IAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures, allows investments in associates held by
venture capital organisations to be designated, upon initial
recognition, as at fair value through profit or loss and accounted
for in accordance with IFRS 9, with changes in fair value
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
period of the change.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is
necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its
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(b) Non-current assets held for sale

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if
their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the non-current asset (or disposal group) is
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to
terms that are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal
group) and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed
to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset.
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are
met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling
interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

(d) Investment property
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation (including property under construction for such
purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Cost includes all direct costs attributable
to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for the
asset to operate in the manner intended, including related staff costs,
design, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. When the assets are
ready for intended use, they are transferred from work-in-progress to
completed properties. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an
investment, or a portion of an investment, in an equity accounted
associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion of the
investment that will be disposed of is classified as held for sale when
the criteria described above are met, and the Group discontinues the
use of the equity method in relation to the portion that is classified a
held for sale. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or
a joint venture that has not been classified as held for sale continues
to be accounted for using the equity method. The Group discontinues
the use of the equity method at the time of disposal when the
disposal results in the Group losing significant influence over the
associate or joint venture.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

After the disposal takes place, the Group accounts for any retained
interest in the associate or joint venture in accordance with IFRS 9
unless the retained interest continues to be an associate or a joint
venture, in which case the Group uses the equity method (refer to
note 3 (a)(iii)).

(e) Goodwill and intangible assets

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell.

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill arising upon an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

(c) Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss.
The cost of property and equipment is the purchase cost plus any
directly attributable cost of acquisition.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All
other repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to the statement
of profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. Recoverable amount
is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. If
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then
to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method to allocate
the assets’ cost to their residual value over their estimated useful
life, on the following basis:
Description		Estimated useful lives
Leasehold improvements

3 to 5 years

IT equipment, furniture and fittings

3 to 5 years

Medical and other equipment

5 to 7 years

Motor vehicles

3 years

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit
or loss on disposal.
The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
equity accounted investee is described at note 3 (a) (iii) above.
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(ii) Other intangible assets acquired in a business combination

revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Other intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost), and include trademarks, licenses contracts and software.

(g) Provisions

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of intangible assets, on the following basis:

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of
the time value of money is material).

Description		Estimated useful lives
Trademarks

5 to 10 years

Licenses

5 years

Contract

5 years

Software

3 to 5 years

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

The estimated useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

(h) Inventories

(iii) De-recognition of intangible assets
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method and
includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and
bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated selling expenses. Allowance for obsolete and
slow moving inventory is made to reduce the carrying amount of
inventories to their net realisable value.

(f) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill

(i) Financial instruments

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

(i) Initial recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument except for “regular way” purchases and sale of
financial assets which are recognised on trade date basis (other
than derivative assets).
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Options which are acquired at transaction cost, with a different
day one fair value based on unobservable inputs, are initially
recognised at fair value; and any differences between fair value
and transaction cost are deferred into unearned income, which
is recycled into profit and loss account over the life of the
options. Any subsequent changes on the re-measurement of fair
value are presented in profit and loss account.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the
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Investments in equity instruments designated at FVTOCI are
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the investments.

(ii) Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
Debt instruments

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends earned are recognised in profit or loss and are
included in ‘other income, net’ (note 22).

Debt instruments are classified and subsequently measured at
either amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.
Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost, net of any
write down for impairment, only if (i) the asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows and (ii) the contractual terms of
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

(iii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Interest calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss and is included in ‘Finance cost, net’.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised as the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

The Group may choose at initial recognition to designate a debt
instrument that otherwise qualifies to be measured at amortised
cost or as at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. All
other debt instruments must be measured as at FVTPL.

Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Group’s own equity instruments.

Debt instruments are reclassified from amortised cost to FVTPL
when the business model is changed such that the amortised
cost criteria are no longer met. Reclassification of debt
instruments that are designated as at FVTPL on initial
recognition is not allowed.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a
financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the
continuing involvement approach applies are measured in
accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances are
measured at amortised cost less any impairment. Interest income
is recognised on an effective interest basis, except for short term
receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits
held with banks for working capital purposes (excluding
deposits held under lien) and term and Wakala deposits of
original maturity less than 3 months.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

Equity instruments

•	on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

A financial asset is held for trading if:
•	it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it
in the near term; or

•	it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

•	on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

 financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading
A
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:
•	such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

•	it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument or a financial guarantee.
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model. The Group does not restate any previously recognised
gains, losses, or interest.

•	the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group's documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping
is provided internally on that basis; or

Reclassification is not allowed for:
•

•	where the fair value option has been exercised in any
circumstance for a financial asset or financial liability.

•	it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and the entire combined contract is
designated as at FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9.

(v) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and it does
not retain control of the financial asset. On derecognition of a
financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of
the asset and the consideration received is recognised in:

Financial liabilities designated at FVTPL are stated at fair value.
Any gains or losses arising on remeasurement of held for trading
financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss. Such gains or
losses that are recognised in profit or loss incorporate any
interest paid on the financial liabilities and are included in the
‘Income from financial investments’ line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
However, for non-held for trading financial liabilities that are
designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of
the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit
risk of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability's
credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The remaining
amount of change in the fair value of liability is recognised in
profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial
liability's credit risk that are recognised in other comprehensive
income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

•	Profit or loss, for securities measured at amortised cost or
FVTPL, or
•	Other comprehensive income, for investments at FVTOCI. At
the time of derecognition of FVTOCI investment any
revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts and loan
commitments issued by the Group that are designated by the
Group as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss.

(vi) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net in the
consolidated statement of financial position only when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and
when the Group intends to settle either on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Income
and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted
by the accounting standards, or for gains and losses arising
from a group of similar transactions such as in the Group’s
trading activity.

Financial liabilities that are not held for trading and are not
designated as at FVTPL are measured at amortised cost at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. The carrying amounts of
financial liabilities that are subsequently measured at
amortised cost are determined based on the effective interest
method. Interest expense that is not capitalised as part of costs
of an asset is included in the 'Finance cost, net' line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group is party to a number of arrangements, including
master netting agreements that give it the right to offset
financial assets and financial liabilities but, where it does not
intend to settle the amounts net or simultaneously, the assets
and liabilities concerned are presented on a gross basis.
(vii) Repurchase and reverse repurchase contracts
Securities sold subject to a commitment to repurchase them at
a predetermined price at a specified future date (repos)
continue to be recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position and a liability is recorded in respect of the
consideration received under borrowings. Assets purchased
with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future
date (reverse repos) are not recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Amounts placed under these
agreements are included in ‘Reverse-repo contracts’ within
‘Financial investments’.

(iv) Reclassification
For financial assets, reclassification is required between FVTPL,
FVTOCI and amortised cost; if and only if the Group’s business
model objective for its financial assets changes so its previous
model assessment would no longer apply.
If reclassification is appropriate, it must be done prospectively
from the reclassification date which is defined as the first day
of the first reporting period following the change in business
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(viii) Foreign exchange gains and losses

Cash flow hedges

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities denominated in a
foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
The foreign exchange component forms part of its fair value
gain or loss. Therefore,

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of revaluation reserve. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, and is included in “other income, net”.

•	for financial assets and liabilities that are classified as at
FVTPL, the foreign exchange component is recognised in
profit or loss; and

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the
periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss, in
the same line of the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
the recognised hedged item. If a hedged forecast transaction
subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial item or
becomes a firm commitment for which fair value hedge
accounting is applied, the amount that has been accumulated in
the revaluation reserve is removed and included directly in the
initial cost or other carrying amount of the asset or the liability.

•	for financial assets that are equity instruments and
designated as at FVTOCI, any foreign exchange component
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
For foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities
measured at amortised cost at the end of each reporting period,
the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on
the amortised cost of the financial assets and are recognised in
the ‘Income from financial investments’ line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

When the Group discontinues hedge accounting for a cash flow
hedge, if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to
occur, the amount that has been accumulated in the cash flow
hedge reserve remains there until the future cash flows occur; if
the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur,
that amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

(ix) Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial
instruments, including equity price collars, foreign exchange
forward contracts and interest rate swaps to manage its exposure
to equity price, interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks.

When the Group separates the intrinsic value and time value of
an option contract and designates as the hedging instrument
only the change in intrinsic value of the option, it recognises
some or all of the change in the time value in other
comprehensive income which is later removed or reclassified
from equity as a single amount or on an amortised basis
(depending on the nature of the hedged item) and ultimately
recognised in profit or loss.

In addition, the Group acquired options and warrants (the
Options), pursuant to which the Group can increase its ownership
stake in equity accounted associates and joint ventures. Further
details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 12.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit
immediately unless: (i) the derivative is designated and effective
as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship or (ii) the derivative is capitalised as unearned
income and subsequently recognised in profit or loss over the
life of the options and warrants.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness
requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk
management objective for that designated hedging relationship
remains the same, the Group will adjust the hedge ratio of the
hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets
the qualifying criteria again.
(xi) Impairment of financial assets

Embedded derivatives

Under IFRS 9, the Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses on financial assets. No impairment loss is
recognised for investments in equity instruments which are
carried at FVTPL. The amount of expected credit losses (ECL) is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are
not financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 (e.g. financial
liabilities) are treated as separate derivatives when their risks
and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host
contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for its trade
and other receivables. Further, the Group applies the general
approach for all other financial assets carried at amortised cost.

(x) Hedge accounting
The Group has designated its equity price collars, in respect of its
cash flow risk resulting from changes in equity price on a
forecasted sale of equity accounted investee, as cash flow hedges.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on
the other hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows
of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence
of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date
or an actual default occurring.

Note 12 sets out details of the fair values of the derivative
instruments used for hedging purposes.
61

Annual Report 2021

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ as per globally understood definition.
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various
external sources of actual and forecast economic information
that relate to the Group’s core operations.

Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either
of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.
•	when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or
•	information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

•	an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal rating;
•	significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument (e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread);

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

•	existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
•	an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

•

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

•	significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; and

•

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

•	an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

•	the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

•	it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on
a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if:

Write-off policy

•

•	the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of financial assets at
amortised cost, when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

•	the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and
•	adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.
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Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

every contract that must be met.

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.

Step 2 Identify performance obligations in the contract: A
performance obligation is a promise in a contract with a
customer to transfer a good or service to the customer.

The assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information as described above. The exposure at default for
financial assets is represented by the assets’ gross carrying
amount at the reporting date. The expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the original effective interest rate.

Step 3 Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is
the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to
a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Step 4 Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract: For a contract that has more than
one performance obligation, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation in an amount
that depicts the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying each
performance obligation.

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for
cases where evidence of significant increases in credit risk at the
individual instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:
•

Nature of financial instruments;

•

Past-due status;

•

Nature, size and industry of debtors;

•

Nature of collaterals, if applicable; and

•

External credit ratings where available.

Step 5 Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation.
The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:
a)	The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternate use to the Group and the Group has as an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
b)	The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

c)	The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs.

The Group recognises an impairment amount in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through an allowance for expected credit
losses account.

For performance obligations where one of the above conditions
are not met, revenue is recognised at the point in time at which
the performance obligation is satisfied.

(j) Foreign currencies

When the Group satisfies a performance obligation by delivering
the promised goods or services it creates a contract based asset on
the amount of consideration earned by the performance. Where
the amount of consideration received from a customer exceeds the
amount of revenue recognised this gives rise to a contract liability.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity's functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated. Exchange differences on monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined
terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty. The Group
assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria to
determine if it is acting as principal or agent.
Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably.

(k) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue from the sale of goods and
services from the following:

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowances.

a) healthcare services to patients at its various clinics;
b)	laboratory services to patients for tests requested by
patients or prescribed by doctors; and

(i) Sale of goods and services

c)	contracts with customers for the sale of pharmacy items
including medicines and other consumables

The Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers
based on a five step model as set out in IFRS 15:

(ii) Dividend and interest income

Step 1 Identify contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined
as an agreement between two or more parties that creates
enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholder's right to receive payment has been established
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Lease liabilities

(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably).

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises
lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
(iii) Rental income
The Group's policy for recognition of revenue from operating
leases is described in note (l) below.
(iv) Public markets transactions

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the
in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group has arranged debt capital financing on behalf of its
clients for the acquisition of high value items, such as vessels
and aircraft. The Group earns income from arranging, advising
on and administering such transactions, which are accounted
for in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Fee income earned from the provision of services is
recognised as revenue when the services are performed .

(l) Leasing
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of property and equipment (i.e., those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It
also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption
to leases of office equipment that are considered of low value.
Lease payments on short- term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

(i) The Group as lessor
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. Rental income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(m) Employee benefits
The provision for employees’ end of service benefit is calculated in
accordance with the UAE Federal Labour Law and is recognised as
an expense in the consolidated statement of profit and loss on an
accrual basis.

(ii) The Group as lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

Pension contribution for GCC nationals is recognised as an expense
in the consolidated statement of profit and loss on an accrual basis.
Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits, included in trade and other liabilities, are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up
to the reporting date.

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement
date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-ofuse assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the
recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.
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(n) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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(o) Government grants

based on market values, being the estimated consideration that
would be exchanged at an arms’ length transaction between
knowledgeable market participants at measurement date.

The Group believes that, in most cases, when land is initially received
through government grants, the probability that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group is uncertain, since, until the Group has
established plans to utilise the land, it is possible that such land may
revert back to the government. In addition, in the absence of
identified use of the land, the amount of future economic benefits
cannot be determined with reasonable certainty. Accordingly, land so
received is not initially recognised in the consolidated financial
statements until certain events occur, which enable management to
conclude that it becomes probable that future economic benefits will
flow to the Group from its ownership of such land.

In the absence of reliable estimates of current prices in an active
market, the valuations are prepared by considering the aggregate
of the estimated future cash flows expected to be received from
the property considering income capitalization approach,
comparable method and residual value method. Based on the
revaluation, a fair value decrease of AED nil was recognised in the
current year (2020: decrease of AED nil). The fair valuation
methodology of the investment properties are disclosed in note 8.
(ii) Impairment of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures

Land received as government grants that do not meet the criteria
that future economic benefits will flow to the Group, are not
recognised, but their existence is disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements. The determination of whether future
economic benefits will flow to the Group is made by management
using guidelines approved by the Board of Directors; each such
determination is also approved by the Board of Directors. Once the
determination is made, land is recognised in the financial
statements at nominal value.

The investment in equity accounted associates was tested for
potential impairment, by comparing its carrying amount and
recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of the investment in Petronash was
determined using the income approach (discounted cash flows),
the market approach (EBIDA multiples) including an analysis over
the operational and financial performance of the Company.
Based on estimates of recoverable amount developed in
accordance with these assumptions, an impairment of AED
77,970 thousand was recognised (2020: AED 9,915 thousand).

At the point of such initial recognition, and subsequently, at each
reporting date, an assessment is made by the Group as to the
ultimate use of the land, and based on such assessment, the land is
transferred to the relevant asset category (such as investment
property, property, plant and equipment or inventory) depending
on its intended use, and is thereafter accounted for using the
accounting policy in place for that relevant asset category.

(iii) Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of Anglo Arabian Healthcare
and its subsidiaries was tested for impairment during the year.
The critical estimates involved are disclosed in note 9.

(p) Statutory reserve

(iv) Allowance for expected credit losses

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Company's Articles
of Association, 10% of the profit after tax is transferred at the end of
each financial year to a non-distributable statutory reserve. Such
transfers are required to be made until the balance of the statutory
reserve equals one half of the Company's paid up share capital.

The Group has estimated the recoverability of trade and other
receivables, and loan investments and has considered the
allowance required for Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”).
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for its trade
and other receivables. Further, the Group applies the general
approach for all other financial assets carried at amortised cost.

4. Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates or assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12 months ECL for
stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An
asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define
what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased
the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative
reasonable and supportable forward looking information.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Revision to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are
revised and in any future period affected.

As at 31 December 2021, provision for expected credit losses on
trade receivables amounting to AED 174,767 thousand (2020:
AED 184,364 thousand) amounted to AED 73,461 thousand
(2020: AED 55,174 thousand) and provision for expected credit
losses on other receivables amounting to AED 31,226 thousand
(2020: AED 29,012 thousand) amounted to AED 989 thousand
(2020: AED 3,714 thousand). Any difference between the
amounts actually collected in future periods and the amounts
expected to be received will be recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(i) Investment property valuation
The Group’s investment properties are revalued at the end of the
reporting period by management with reference to accredited
independent appraisers having an appropriate recognised
professional qualification and recent experience in the location
and category of the property being valued. The fair values are
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(v) Fair value of financial instruments

Pursuant to the completion of the transaction, AAH has
indemnified certain amounts to the buyer of PHD, which could
vary up to 50% and 75% of the proceeds, under certain events
for a limited period. This indemnity is backed by a comfort letter
issued by the Company in the event that the net asset value of
AAH falls below the indemnity threshold. At the end of the
reporting period, management believe the occurrence of such
certain events to be remote.

The Group has financial assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. Information about the valuation
techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of
various financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 28.
(vi) COVID 19

(iii) Initial recognition of options and warrants related to Petronash

The outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (COVID 19) continues to
progress and evolve. Therefore, it is challenging now, to predict
the full extent and duration and its impact on the business and
overall economic impact. The outbreak of COVID-19 has had an
impact on demand for oil and petroleum products.

Further to the acquisition of Petronash, the Group also acquired
additional rights in the form of options and warrants (the
Options) on zero-cost basis, pursuant to which the Group can
increase its ownership up to 50% and are classified as financial
assets measured at FVTPL. Since the day 1 fair value was
derived using unobservable inputs, the fair value at initial
recognition was deferred as Unearned Income and is recycled
into profit and loss account over the life of the Options. On
subsequent re-measurement, the change in fair value is
recognised into profit and loss account.

The extent and duration of such impacts remain uncertain and
dependent on future developments that cannot be accurately
predicted at this time, such as the transmission rate of the
coronavirus and the extent and effectiveness of containment
actions taken. The management believes that the COVID- 19 has
no significant impact for the year ended 31 December 2021
except on an investment in an equity-accounted associate which
was fully written down during the year (note 11), however, these
COVID-19 developments could impact future financial results,
cash flows and the financial condition of the Group.

(iv) Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable
term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an
option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be
exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the
lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

(b) Critical accounting judgements
(i) Possibility of future economic benefits from land received as
government grant

(v) Discount rate used for initial measurement of lease liabilities
The Group, as a lessee, measures the lease liabilities at the
present value of the unpaid lease payments at the
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily
determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the
Company on initial recognition of the lease uses its incremental
borrowing rate. Incremental borrowing rate is the rate of
interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use assets in
similar economic environment. The Company determined its
incremental borrowing rate at 5.00% - 7.02% in respect of the
lease liabilities (note 19).

Refer to note 3(o) for a description of judgements used to
ascertain the possibility of future economic benefits from land
received as government grant.
(ii) Indemnity provided upon disposal of a subsidiary
On 15 February 2017, the Group through its UAE healthcare
subsidiary, Anglo Arabian Healthcare Investment (AAH), has
entered into a share purchase agreement with an unrelated
company to sell its entire 93% equity stake in Proficiency
Healthcare Diagnostic LLC (PHD), which was completed on 6
December 2017.
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5. Composition of the Group
5.1 Subsidiaries
Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows.

Group’s shareholding
Subsidiary

Country of incorporation

Principal activity

2021

2020

Netherlands

Investment in
AerCap

100%

100%

Al Waha Land LLC

UAE

Industrial Real
Estate

100%

100%

Anglo Arabian Healthcare Investments LLC

UAE

Healthcare

97.1%

97.1%

Waha VAS Limited 2

Cayman Islands

Investment in
Channel VAS

100%

100%

Waha Energy Limited 3

Cayman Islands

Energy

100%

100%

UAE

Investment
manager

100%

100%

Cayman Islands

Financial
investments

100%

100%

Private Investments
Waha AC Cooperatief U.A. 1

Asset Management
Waha Investment PrJSC
Waha Investment Management
Company SPC4

1

Holding Company that previously held an investment in AerCap.

2

Holding Company carrying an investment in Channel VAS (note 11).

Holding Company carrying special purpose vehicles for investments in SDX Energy Inc., NESR Corp and Petronash Global Limited (note
11 and 12).
3

Waha Investment Management Company SPC owns 0% of Waha MENA Value Fund SP (2020: 100.0%), 65.9% of Waha MENA Equity Fund
SP (2020: 67.7%), 62.6% of Waha CEEMEA Credit Fund SP (2020: 63.5%), 84.9% of Waha Islamic Income Fund SP (2020: 100.0%) and 100%
of Waha EM Equity Fund SP (2020: 0%).
4
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5.2 Details of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests
5.2a Waha Investment Management Company SPC
Summarised financial information in respect of Waha Investment Management Company SPC is set out below and this represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Statement of financial position

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Total assets

7,049,866

6,432,360

Total liabilities

(2,634,015)

(2,909,107)

Non-controlling interests1

(1,506,275)

(1,132,932)

2,909,576

2,390,321

Equity attributable to the Owners of the Company

Movement in non-controlling interests includes: a) net investment into Waha MENA Equity Fund SP of AED 68,109 thousand (2020: net
redemption of AED 349,019 thousand); b) net investments into Waha CEEMEA Credit Fund SP of AED 56,237 thousand (2020: AED 15,683
thousand); c) redemptions of AED nil from Waha MENA Value Fund SP (2020: redemptions of AED 617 thousand); d) investment of AED
18,390 thousand into Waha Islamic Income Fund SP (2020: AED nil).
1

Movement in equity attributable to the Owners of the Company includes: a) redemption of AED 65,924 thousand from Waha MENA Equity
Fund SP (2020: investments of AED 102,340 thousand) and the Group’s ownership decreased from 67.7% to 65.9%; b) redemption of AED
11,034 thousand (2020: investments of AED 156,309 thousand) from Waha CEEMEA Credit Fund SP and the Group’s ownership decreased
from 63.5% to 62.6%; and c) redemptions of AED nil from Waha MENA Value Fund SP (2020: AED 315,021 thousand) resulting in no
change in the Group’s ownership of 100.0%; d) investment of AED nil into Waha Islamic Income Fund SP (2020: AED 91,950 thousand),
resulting in a decrease in the Group’s ownership from 100.0% to 84.9%. e) The Group invested in Waha EM Equity Fund SP, a newly
established fund, an amount of AED 91,950 thousand (2020: AED nil) and the Group’s ownership is 100.0%.

Year ended 31 December 2021
AED ‘000

Year ended 31 December 2020
AED ‘000

Income from financial investments

902,019

520,302

Expenses

(47,970)

(59,153)

Profit for the year

854,049

461,149

Profit attributable to Owners of the Company

623,442

347,191

Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests

230,607

113,958

Profit for the year

854,049

461,149

Net cash inflow from operating activities

548,064

283,800

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing activities

38,550

(238,978)

Net cash inflow

586,614

44,822

Statement of profit or loss

Statement of cash flows
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5.2b Anglo Arabian Healthcare Investments LLC
Anglo Arabian Healthcare Investments LLC (“AAH”) is a holding company for the Group’s 70% ownership interest in Sharjah Corniche
Hospital LLC (“SCG”) and Health Bay Polyclinic (2020: 70%), 60% in Ibn Sina Medical Centre LLC (2020: 60%), 100% in AAH Services FZ
LLC (2020: 100%), 74% in Amina Hospital LLC (2020: 74%) and 100% in IVF Investment LLC (2020: 100%).

Summarised financial information in respect of AAH is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts
before intragroup eliminations.

1

Statement of financial position

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Non-current assets

211,296

232,449

Current assets

111,724

121,559

Total liabilities

(223,298)

(225,701)

Non-controlling interests 1

33,300

21,800

Equity attributable to the Owners of the Company

133,022

150,107

Movement in non-controlling interests include contributions of non-controlling interest holders’ share of investment amounting to AED nil (2020: AED 22 thousand).

Year ended
31 December 2021
AED ‘000

Year ended
31 December 2020
AED ‘000

303,556

301,589

Expenses, net

(331,180)

(310,110)

Loss for the year

(27,624)

(8,521)

Loss attributable to Owners of the Company

(15,817)

(4,814)

Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests

(11,807)

(3,707)

Loss for the year

(27,624)

(8,521)

Net cash inflow from operating activities

1,972

11,790

Net cash inflow from investing activities

10,311

17,741

Net cash outflow from financing activities

(14,517)

(30,509)

Net cash outflow

(2,234)

(978)

Statement of profit or loss
Revenue

Statement of cash flows
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5.3 Disposal of a subsidiary
On 6 October 2020, the Group through its UAE healthcare subsidiary, Anglo Arabian Healthcare Investment (AAH), has entered into a sale
and purchase agreement of shares in the capital of Oras Medical Center LLC and certain related transactions to sell its entire 60% equity
stake in Oras Medical Center LLC, which was completed on 24 November 2020.

25 November 2020
AED ‘000

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

3,494

Trade and other receivables

3,706
45

Inventories
Non-current assets

6,255

Goodwill

160

Furniture and equipment
Current liabilities

(266)

Trade and other liabilities
Non-current liability

(70)

End of service benefit provision
Net assets disposed

13,324

Net profit from disposed subsidiary
4,218

Revenue

(1,220)

Direct Costs

(482)

General and administration expenses

2,516
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
12,697

Consideration received

(13,324)

Net assets disposed

2,818

Non-controlling interests

2,191
Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary
3,014

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents

(3,494)

Less: cash and cash equivalent balances disposed

(480)
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6. Operating segments
During the year, the Group realigned its operating segments following developments in key responsibilities of management and internal
reporting. Following the realignment, we have reclassified the industrial real estate industry from Private Investments to a new segment
called "Waha Land". Furthermore, we have renamed our Capital Markets segment to Public Markets to be in line with the Group's
external publications. Comparative periods were reclassified accordingly.
Private Investments
The Private Investments segment holds all of the Group’s proprietary investments in diversified industries including financial services,
infrastructure, oil and gas, fintech and healthcare.
Public Markets
The Public Markets segment represents a platform to provide investors access to opportunities in equities and other asset management
services.
Waha Land
Waha Land segment represents the Group’s interest in industrial real estate.
Corporate
The corporate segment comprises the Group’s activities, which are not allocated to reportable segments.
Information related to the operating segments is mentioned below as at and for the year ended 31 December:

Private
Investments

Waha Land

Public
Markets

Corporate

Consolidated

301,940

-

-

-

301,940

(246,733)

-

-

-

(246,733)

Share of loss from equity-accounted associates
and joint ventures, net

(11,488)

-

-

-

(11,488)

Impairment of equity-accounted associates and
joint ventures, net

(77,970)

-

-

-

(77,970)

Gain on disposal of equity-accounted associates
and joint ventures

50,511

-

-

-

50,511

(27,210)

-

901,639

-

874,429

5,677

1,840

379

140

8,036

-

47,903

-

-

47,903

(6,736)

-

(20,834)

(114,622)

(142,192)

General and administrative expenses – subsidiaries

(79,335)

(11,426)

(6,584)

-

(97,345)

Finance cost, net

(6,852)

(3,171)

(41,233)

(46,180)

(97,436)

Profit / (loss) for the year

(98,196)

35,146

833,367

(160,662)

609,655

Other comprehensive loss

(285)

-

-

-

(285)

AED ‘000
2021
Revenue from sale of goods and services
Cost of sale of goods and services

Income from financial investments
Other income, net
Income from investment property, net
General and administrative expenses – parent
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Private
Investments

Waha Land

Public
Markets

Corporate

Consolidated

301,589

-

-

-

301,589

Cost of sale of goods and services

(237,086)

-

-

-

(237,086)

Share of loss from equity-accounted associates
and joint ventures, net

(24,356)

-

-

-

(24,356)

Impairment of equity-accounted associates and
joint ventures, net

(9,915)

-

-

-

(9,915)

Gain on settlement of loan investments

11,244

-

-

-

11,244

Income from financial investments

88,794

-

516,230

-

605,024

(30,902)

2,094

321

86

(28,401)

-

39,578

-

-

39,578

General and administrative expenses – parent

(6,813)

-

(22,080)

(90,012)

(118,905)

General and administrative expenses – subsidiaries

(73,895)

(12,625)

(6,681)

-

(93,201)

Finance cost, net

(7,038)

(5,504)

(52,413)

(40,719)

(105,674)

Profit / (loss) for the year

11,622

23,543

435,377

(130,645)

339,897

Other comprehensive loss

(4,298)

-

-

-

(4,298)

AED ‘000
2020
Revenue from sale of goods and services

Other (expense) / income, net
Income from investment property, net

Segment income reported above represents income generated from external customers. There was no inter-segment income during the
year (2020: AED nil). All revenues are generated from sales of goods and services within the UAE. Included in revenue from sales of goods
and services are revenues of approximately AED 32,426 thousand (2020: AED 35,196 thousand) which arose from the Group’s largest
customer. One customer contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue for 2021 while no customer contributed 10% or more to the
Group’s revenue for 2020.
During the year, the Group recognised an impairment loss of AED 77,970 thousand (2020: AED 9,915 thousand) on investments in equity
accounted investees, and a fair value loss of AED nil (2020: AED nil) on investment properties in the Waha Land segment.
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment profit
represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of central administration cost amounting to AED160,662 thousand
(2020: AED 130,645 thousand). This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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Private
Investments

Waha Land

Public
Markets

Corporate

Consolidated

Investment in equity-accounted associates and
joint ventures

170,242

-

-

-

170,242

Other assets

793,242

800,978

7,187,151

637,953

9,419,324

Segment assets

963,484

800,978

7,187,151

637,953

9,589,566

Segment liabilities

238,661

126,114

2,743,559

1,689,842

4,798,176

Capital expenditures

6,594

1,697

-

850

9,141

Depreciation and amortisation and impairment of
intangibles assets

28,138

39

20

3,597

31,794

Investment in equity-accounted associates and
joint ventures

472,076

-

-

-

472,076

Other assets

826,906

805,836

6,403,176

373,819

8,409,737

1,298,982

805,836

6,403,176

373,819

8,881,813

280,857

163,863

2,948,042

1,339,456

4,732,218

Capital expenditures

6,988

7,542

21

598

15,149

Depreciation and amortisation and impairment of
intangibles assets

28,956

138

25

3,611

32,730

AED ‘000
2021

AED '000
2020

Segment assets
Segment liabilities

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:
•

All assets are allocated to operating segments other than corporate assets of AED 637,953 thousand (2020: AED 373,819 thousand)

•

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than corporate liabilities of AED 1,689,842 thousand (2020: AED 1,339,456 thousand)
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7. Property and equipment, net

Leasehold
improvements
AED ‘000

IT
equipment,
furniture
and fittings
AED ‘000

Medical
and other
equipment
AED ‘000

Motor
vehicles
AED ‘000

3-5

3-5

5-7

3

45,797

37,011

84,230

Additions

215

2,028

Disposals

-

Capital work
in progress
AED ‘000

Total
AED ‘000

3,224

43

170,305

5,016

210

53

7,522

(5)

(220)

(600)

-

(825)

(149)

(44)

(806)

-

-

(999)

45,863

38,990

88,220

2,834

96

176,003

Transfers

-

51

-

-

(51)

-

Additions

-

1,500

5,071

199

336

7,106

Disposals

-

-

(1,138)

(700)

-

(1,838)

45,863

40,541

92,153

2,333

381

181,271

At 1 January 2020

27,058

28,567

54,033

3,074

-

112,732

Charge for the year 1

4,212

3,404

10,616

130

-

18,362

-

(5)

(15)

(600)

-

(620)

Eliminated upon disposal of
subsidiary

(141)

(44)

(654)

-

-

(839)

Balance at 31 December 2020

31,129

31,922

63,980

2,604

-

129,635

Charge for the year 1

3,762

2,464

10,375

125

-

16,726

-

-

(782)

(700)

-

(1,482)

34,891

34,386

73,573

2,029

-

144,879

At 31 December 2021

10,972

6,155

18,580

304

381

36,392

As at 31 December 2020

14,734

7,068

24,240

230

96

46,368

Useful economic lives (years)
Cost
At 1 January 2020

Eliminated upon disposal of
subsidiary
At 31 December 2020

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Disposals

Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2021

Net carrying amount

Depreciation expense of AED 13,136 thousand is included in “Cost of sales of goods and services” (2020: AED 13,738 thousand) and
AED 3,590 thousand is included in “General and Administrative expenses” (2020: AED 4,624 thousand).
1
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8. Investment property
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

715,989

717,140

Additions

1,697

7,542

Disposal

(6,264)

(8,693)

At 31 December

711,422

715,989

At 1 January

Investment property comprise of land and buildings that are constructed for commercial and industrial use.
The Group has recognised a portion of the land granted in the consolidated financial statements by applying the accounting policy with respect
to government grants (refer to note 3(o)) and investment properties (refer to note 3(d)). The land grant related to the portion of land for
which the Group has no development plans, remains unrecognised on the consolidated statement of financial position as at reporting date.
The investment property is categorised into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to the valuation technique accepted by
the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. The valuation, as of 31 December 2021, was performed by management with reference to an
accredited independent appraiser having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the location
and category of the property being valued. In estimating the fair value, the current use of the property was deemed to be its highest and
best use. Valuation methodologies considered include:
•	The Income Capitalisation Approach, where income receivable under comparable leases, existing lease agreements and projected
future rental streams are capitalised at appropriate rates to reflect the investment market conditions at the valuation date.
•	The Comparable method, which identify identical or similar assets (properties) that have been sold, analysing the sales prices
achieved and the relevant market data and establishing value by comparison with those properties that have been sold
•	The Residual Value Method, which requires the use of estimates such as sale price, construction costs, professional fees, financing cost
and targeted internal rate of return. These estimates are based on local market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.
The Income Capitalisation Approach was used to derive the fair value of buildings where the discount rate used ranged from 10% – 12%.
The Comparable method and Residual Value Method were used to derive the fair value of land plots where the sales price ranged from
AED 22 to AED 65 per sq ft.
Based on the revaluation, there was no fair value change recognised in the current year (2020: AED nil).
Income from investment property, net

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Rental income

48,999

39,880

Operating costs

(2,662)

(2,909)

Gain on disposal

1,566

2,607

47,903

39,578

During the year, the Group entered into a Musataha agreement for sale of a serviced land. Total consideration for the transaction is AED
9,000 thousand which is payable in five instalments until May 2025.
During 2020, the Group entered into a Musataha Agreement for sale of a serviced land. Total consideration for the transaction is AED 13,000
thousand which is payable in five instalments until September 2023.
Gain of AED 1,566 thousand (2020: 2,607 thousand) is recognised in respect of such transactions. As at 31 December 2021, the gross
receivables from such transaction amounted to AED 12,520 thousand (2020: AED 9,449 thousand) and provision for expected credit loss
amounted to AED nil (2020: AED 763 thousand).
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9. Goodwill and intangible assets
Goodwill 1
AED ‘000

Trademarks
AED ‘000

Contract
AED ‘000

Software
AED ‘000

-

5-10

5

3-5

84,185

28,344

25,589

9,309

147,427

Adjustment

-

-

-

38

38

Additions

-

-

-

55

55

Eliminated upon disposal

(6,255)

-

(25,589)

-

(31,844)

At 31 December 2020

77,930

28,344

-

9,402

115,676

-

-

-

284

284

77,930

28,344

-

9,686

115,960

At 1 January 2020

-

28,344

25,589

7,799

61,732

Amortisation

-

-

-

453

453

Eliminated upon disposal

-

-

(25,589)

-

(25,589)

Balance at 31 December 2020

-

28,344

-

8,252

36,596

Amortisation

-

-

-

381

381

At 31 December 2021

-

28,344

-

8,633

36,977

At 31 December 2021

77,930

-

-

1,053

78,983

At 31 December 2020

77,930

-

-

1,150

79,080

Useful economic lives (years)

Total
AED ‘000

Cost
At 1 January 2020

Additions
At 31 December 2021

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

1

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following cash-generating units:

•

Affordable care

•

Premium care
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The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to cash-generating units as follows:

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Affordable care

41,423

41,423

Premium care

36,507

36,507

77,930

77,930

The recoverable amounts of Affordable care and Premium care cash-generating units were determined based on level 3 fair value
calculation which uses cash flow projections based on a business plan approved by the directors covering a 5 year period, and a discount
rate of 11% to 14% per annum (2020: 11% to 14% per annum) for Affordable care and 11% to 12% per annum (2020: 11% to 12% per annum)
for Premium care. Cash flow projections during the period are based on the gross margins and direct costs price inflation throughout the
projection period which are in line with the respective industries in which Affordable care and Premium care operates. The cash flows
beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a 3% (2020: 3%) per annum growth rate which is the projected long term average
growth rate for the market. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable
amount is based, would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amounts of the cash generating units.

10. Loan investments

Loan to equity accounted investees

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

-

45,003

During 2020, the Group provided an interest bearing loan amounting to AED 45,975 thousand at an interest rate of nine-month Libor
plus 6.5% to an equity accounted investment. The equity accounted investees are based in the Middle East region. As at 31 December
2021, the loan has a gross balance of AED nil (31 December 2020: AED 45,975 thousand) and expected credit loss of AED nil (31 December
2020: AED 972 thousand). As of 31 December 2020, the loan was a stage 1 asset (refer note 25). During the year, this loan was repaid.

11. Investments in associates and joint ventures
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

-

187,185

Equity-accounted joint ventures

170,242

284,891

Total equity-accounted associates and joint-ventures

170,242

472,076

Associate carried at FVTPL (note 12)

17,388

36,099

Carrying amount
Equity-accounted associates

11.1 Details of material associates
Details of each of the Group’s material associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Beneficial shareholding
Associate

Principal activity

Country of incorporation

2021

2020

SDX Energy Inc. (“SDX”)

Oil and gas services

Canada

18.65%

19.50%

NESR Corp

Oil and gas services

United States

-

6.29%
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Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s material associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

SDX Energy Inc.

NESR Corp

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Current assets

132,676

136,373

1,962,206

1,894,968

Non-current assets

267,144

321,917

4,534,555

4,310,016

Current liabilities

59,348

77,786

1,356,958

1,321,748

Non-current liabilities

29,865

26,158

1,502,886

1,409,667

-

-

(29)

(29)

Revenue

147,028

169,438

2,447,139

3,067,989

(Loss) / profit for the year

(44,673)

(7,569)

78,062

184,220

-

-

121

129

(44,673)

(7,569)

78,183

184,349

Group’s share of contingencies

-

-

-

3,935

Group’s share of commitments

8,163

5,881

-

3,748

Statement of financial position

Non-controlling interests
Statement of profit or loss

Other comprehensive income / (loss)
for the year
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for
the year

The 2021 amounts disclosed above pertain to the nine-month period ended and as of 30 September 2021. The 2020 amounts disclosed
pertain to the twelve-month period ended and as of 31 December 2020.

11.2 Details of material joint ventures
Details of each of the Group’s material joint ventures at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Joint venture
Channel VAS Investments Limited 1
Petronash Global Limited 2
Deem Finance

Group’s shareholding

Principal activity

Country of
incorporation

2021

2020

Fintech

UAE

19.70%

19.70%

Oil and gas services

Cayman Islands

32.09%

32.09%

Banking

UAE

-

26.00%

On 26 September 2017, the Group’s Private Investments segment acquired a 20% equity stake in Dubai-based Channel VAS Investments
Limited (Channel VAS), for a total consideration of AED 200.5 million. Channel VAS is a business in the fintech sector, operating in over 25
emerging markets in the Middle East, Africa, Asia and Europe.
1

On 6 August 2018, the Group, along with co-investors, entered into a subscription agreement to acquire 35% stake in Dubai-based
Petronash Global Limited (Petronash), a global oilfield services and manufacturing company, for an upfront consideration of AED
322,762 thousand and a deferred contingent consideration of AED 134,863 thousand. The transaction closed on 10 October 2018 which
includes options, pursuant to which the Group can increase its ownership up to 50% in Petronash. During 2018, these options are
reported separately as financial investments and do not form a part of the carrying value of the investments in associates and joint
ventures. As at 31 December 2021, these options were valued at AED nil (2020: AED nil) because of the significant deterioration in the
performance of the Company when compared to the initial assessment performed by management (note 12).
2

The Group exercises joint control in Petronash through its shareholding agreement and representations on its board and various committees.
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Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS (adjusted by
the Group for equity accounting purposes).

Channel VAS

Petronash

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

- cash and cash equivalents

34,031

41,290

24,939

29,051

- others

125,194

73,635

288,554

712,363

Non-current assets

95,702

88,549

664,886

707,355

- trade and other payables

47,787

43,073

58,451

107,331

- others

25,805

19,417

194,425

482,705

Non-current liabilities

30,949

33,835

421,070

429,172

Non-controlling interests

5,874

5,595

-

-

Revenue

370,595

281,423

232,809

643,629

Expenses

162,691

118,619

263,057

468,722

Interest income

-

-

12

152

Interest expense

5,841

3,378

42,316

41,975

Depreciation and amortisation

20,289

16,561

51,206

59,285

Profit / (loss) before tax

175,874

142,865

(121,278)

75,704

Income tax expense

40,197

27,154

3,566

19,059

Profit / (loss) for the year

135,677

115,711

(124,843)

56,645

Dividends received during the year

18,115

13,768

-

-

Group’s share of contingencies

16,809

13,223

15,977

14,732

Group’s share of commitments

-

331

2,891

6,923

Statement of financial position
Current assets

Current liabilities

Statement of profit or loss

Statement of cash flows
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Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the Group’s material joint
ventures recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Channel VAS

Petronash

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Net assets of the joint venture

144,512

101,911

304,431

878,998

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest

19.70%

19.70%

32.09%

32.09%

Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture

28,469

20,076

97,692

282,070

Goodwill

80,434

80,434

-

-

Intangible assets

47,642

61,673

-

-

-

-

(259,295)

(181,325)

1,514

1,586

-

7,591

158,059

163,769

-

108,336

Impairment
Other adjustments
Carrying amount of joint venture

During the year, the Group recognised net share of loss of AED 114 thousand from joint ventures that are not individually material (2020:
share of profit of AED 622 thousand), the total carrying value of such investments amounting to AED 12,183 thousand (2020: AED 12,786
thousand).
The movement of investment in equity-accounted associates and joint ventures is presented below:
2021
AED‘000

2020
AED‘000

As at 1 January

472,076

524,552

Disposals

(84,330)

-

Share of loss, net

(11,488)

(24,356)

Impairment loss, net

(77,970)

(9,915)

(285)

(4,298)

Distributions received

(18,603)

(13,907)

Reclassification of investment to FVPTL

(109,158)

-

170,242

472,076

Share of equity reserves

Investment in equity-accounted associates and joint ventures domiciled outside UAE amount to AED nil (31 December 2020: AED
187,185 thousand).
The fair value of publicly listed equity-accounted associates and joint ventures based on quoted market price is AED nil (2020: AED
201,631 thousand), carried at AED nil (2020: AED 187,185 thousand).
On 1 July 2021, the Group's appointed director on the Board of NESR Corp. resigned which ceased the Group's significant influence over
the investee. Hence, the investee will no longer be classified as an equity-accounted associate. Accordingly, the management has
reclassified its remaining investment in NESR from equity-accounted associate to FVTPL financial asset, in accordance with IFRS 9
Financial Instruments (refer note 12).
During the year, the Group signed a Sales Purchase agreement with other shareholders to complete the transfer of the Company to a
new shareholder in the third quarter of 2021 and concluded the sale of its 26% stake in Deem Finance.
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12. Financial investments
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Unquoted fund

134,897

34,162

Derivative assets 1

88,960

68,282

Reverse repurchase contracts, net 2

112,780

49,484

Listed fixed income securities 3

4,102,793

4,422,913

Listed equity securities 4

1,788,086

1,366,559

185,545

220,680

963

963

6,414,024

6,163,043

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Convertible preference shares 5
Other investments

Financial investments held outside the UAE amount to AED 5,848,825 thousand (31 December 2020: AED 5,470,455 thousand).
Derivative assets held by the Group include total return swaps, credit default swaps, currency and interest rate futures, which are
measured at fair value, Level 2 (see note 28).
1

Reverse repurchase contracts are shorted simultaneously. The carrying amounts presented are net of reverse repurchase
receivables of AED 2,162,879 thousand and corresponding liabilities of AED 2,050,099 thousand (31 December 2020: reverse
repurchase receivables of AED 1,781,496 thousand and corresponding liabilities of AED 1,732,012 thousand). The repurchase
agreements are subject to a master netting agreement.
2

3
Listed fixed income securities aggregating to AED 2,972,924 thousand (31 December 2020: AED 3,694,441 thousand) are pledged as
security against the Group’s borrowings under repurchase agreements.

Included in the listed equity securities is a 18.65% associate investment in SDX Energy Inc. carried at AED 17,388 thousand (31
December 2020: 19.50% stake carried at AED 36,099 thousand), as part of the Group’s venture capital activities and measured at FVTPL.
4

During the year, the Group has reclassified its remaining investment in NESR from equity accounted associate to FVTPL financial
asset (refer note 11).
On 20 August 2020, the Group entered into a subscription agreement with Despegar.com, a NYSE-listed online travel company in
Latin America to acquire 50,000 Series B Preferred Shares, without par value for an aggregate purchase price of $50 million. The
terms of the transaction include an option to the holder to convert each Series B Preferred Shares into 108.1081 common shares of
Despegar.com. Series B Preferred Shares carry an annual dividend of 4% which is payable on a quarterly basis. The issuer also has an
option to enforce conversion at any time from the third to seventh anniversary of the deal closing date, if for at least 10 consecutive
trading days volume weighted average price of the common shares exceeds $13.88 between third and fifth anniversary and $12.49
between fifth and seventh anniversary. In addition, the issuer has right to redeem at any time on or after the seventh anniversary in
cash. The Group paid net cash consideration of AED 180,222 thousand for the transaction which was closed on 21 September 2020.
As of reporting date, the fair value of the instrument is estimated at AED 185,545 thousand (31 December 2020: 220,680 thousand).
5

During 2018, in addition to the acquisition of Petronash, the Group also acquired additional rights in the form of options and
warrants (the Options), pursuant to which the Group can increase its ownership up to 50% effective from 10 October 2018. Upon
initial recognition, the fair value of the Options was deferred as unearned income and is recycled into profit and loss account over the
life of the Options. As at 31 December 2021, these options were valued at AED nil (2020: AED nil) because of the significant
deterioration in the performance of the Company when compared to the initial assessment performed by management.
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Maturity profiles of derivative assets are as follows:

2021
Notional
‘000

2021
Fair value
AED ‘000

2020
Notional
‘000

2020
Fair value
AED ‘000

960,821

27,150

631,798

40,724

Due between 1 to 3 years

8,728,109

20,577

107,080

1,885

More than 3 years

6,025,145

41,233

8,558,706

25,673

15,714,075

88,960

9,297,584

68,282

Due within 1 year

13. Trade and other receivables
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Trade receivables

174,767

184,364

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables

(73,461)

(55,174)

101,306

129,190

Prepayments and advances

7,852

8,304

Accrued interest

49,216

56,085

Amounts set aside for prior year dividends

37,805

37,931

Deposits under lien

1,034

1,028

Margin accounts

414,450

268,960

Other receivables

31,226

29,012

(989)

(3,714)

641,900

526,796

Allowance for expected credit losses on other receivables

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables as at 31 December by geographic region is:

Middle East
Europe
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2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

174,077

183,749

690

615

174,767

184,364

The ageing of trade receivables as at 31 December is:

2021

2020

Trade
receivables
AED’000

Expected
credit losses
AED’000

Expected
credit
loss rate

Trade
Receivables
AED’000

Expected
credit losses
AED’000

Expected
credit
loss rate

53,708

1,667

0-25%

71,374

1,549

0-25%

Within 90 days

22,216

2,732

5-35%

21,009

2,300

5-35%

91 days - 180 days

13,154

3,250

20-50%

17,942

3,826

20-50%

181 days - 365 days

13,879

5,573

30-75%

29,250

11,614

30-75%

> 365 days

71,810

60,239

55-100%

44,789

35,885

55-100%

174,767

73,461

184,364

55,174

Not past due
Past due:

Movement in allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables:

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Balance at the beginning of the year

55,174

44,231

Expected credit losses recognised during the year

18,712

10,949

-

(6)

(425)

-

73,461

55,174

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

3,714

4,266

-

1,164

(2,725)

(1,716)

989

3,714

Eliminated on disposal of subsidiary
Other adjustments
Balance at the end of the year

Movement in allowance for expected credit losses on other receivables:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Expected credit losses recognised during the year
Reversals
Balance at the end of the year

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from
the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period.
Deposits under lien represent cash collateral for letters of guarantee issued by commercial banks in favour of the Central Bank of the
UAE on behalf of the Group. The interest rate on deposits under lien is 0.55% (2020: 0.55%) per annum. All deposits under lien are placed
with UAE banks.
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14. Cash and bank balances
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

110,340

276,021

Cash at banks

1,310,765

428,481

Cash in hand

354

294

1,421,459

704,796

(109)

(112)

1,421,350

704,684

Deposits held with banks

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses
Cash and cash equivalents

The interest rate on short term deposits ranged between 0.20% - 1.30% (2020: 0.20% - 1.80%) per annum. All short term deposits are
placed with UAE banks.

15. Share capital and dividend
Authorised and fully paid up capital

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

1,944,514,687 shares (2020: 1,944,514,687 shares) of AED 1 each

1,944,515

1,944,515

On 24 March 2021, the Company held its Annual General Meeting which, among other things, approved a cash dividend of AED 110,311
thousand representing 6 fils per share (22 March 2020: approved a cash dividend of nil).
A cash dividend of 7.55 fils per share and stock dividend of 2.45 fils per share is proposed for 2021 by the Board of Directors of the
Company subject to the approval of the shareholders in the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
On 17 September 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the implementation of a share buy-back programme for up to 10%
of the outstanding shares of the Company. The Securities & Commodities Authority (SCA) approved the programme on 20 October 2014,
which ended on 18 October 2016 and was subsequently approved for extension until 18 October 2019. This was further extended by 3
years until 18 October 2022. As of 31 December 2021, the Company had bought 106,005,973 shares at AED 267,184 thousand.
The basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 has been calculated using the weighted
average number of shares outstanding during the year after considering the effect of treasury shares.

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

390,753

230,969

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of
basic and diluted earnings per share

1,838,508,714

1,838,508,714

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the Owners of
the Company (AED)

0.213

0.126

Profit for the year attributable to Owners of the Company (AED
‘000)
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16. Borrowings
31 December 2021
AED ‘000
Effective Interest Rate

< 1year

1–3years

>3years

Total

Secured term loans 1

LIBOR+3% and 3m
EIBOR +2.5%

1,549,659

51,624

32,266

1,633,549

Borrowings through
repurchase agreements 2

0.04% to +1.45%

2,482,765

-

-

2,482,765

Unsecured loans

1m and 3m EIBOR +3.25%

884

-

-

884

4,033,308

51,624

32,266

4,117,198

31 December 2020
AED ‘000
Effective Interest Rate

< 1year

1–3years

>3years

Total

Secured term loans 1

LIBOR+3% and 3m EIBOR
+2.5%

1,243,928

67,733

42,334

1,353,995

Borrowings through
repurchase agreements 2

0.05%- 3.3%

2,853,983

-

-

2,853,983

Unsecured loans

1m and 3m EIBOR +3.25%

3,864

-

-

3,864

4,101,775

67,733

42,334

4,211,842

1
On 15 August 2021, the Group completed the refinancing of its existing $400 million secured revolving loan facility, replacing it with
a 3 year $500 million secured revolving loan facility. The facility is initially secured by a pledge over the Group's shareholding in Waha
Land LLC and certain investments. As at 31 December 2021, an amount of AED 1,541,082 thousand was drawn-down (2020: AED
1,210,062 thousand).

During 2016, the Group secured AED 426 million in a Murabaha-Ijara based financing for further development of its light industrial real
estate project. During 2018, it was amended to reduce the facility from AED 426 million to AED 378 million.
2

Repurchase liabilities represent the Group’s borrowings against its investment in listed fixed income securities under repurchase contracts.

The investments and assets pledged to lenders as security against various facilities are the Group's shareholding in Al Waha Land LLC
(refer to note 5.1) and certain investments (refer to note 12).
Reconciliation of borrowings movement to cash flows arising from financing activities is as follows:

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

4,211,842

4,443,657

Loans drawn-down

647,575

893,649

Loan arrangement and prepaid interest costs, net of amortisations

(16,921)

314

Loans repaid

(725,298)

(1,125,778)

4,117,198

4,211,842

At 1 January

During the year, an amount of AED 331,020 thousand was net repayment of the Group’s existing secured revolving loan facility, and
AED 34,545 thousand was repayment of the secured Murabaha-Ijara based financing for further development of its light industrial
real estate project.
During the year, the Group’s repurchase liabilities against its investment in fixed income securities decreased by AED 371,218 thousand.
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17. Derivative liabilities
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

100,626

29,907

Other derivative liabilities

100,626

29,907

Maturity profiles of derivative liabilities are as follows:
2021
Notional
‘000

2021
Fair value
AED ‘000

2020
Notional
‘000

2020
Fair value
AED ‘000

Due within 1 year

86,769

33,271

346,187

9,900

Due between 1 to 3 years

19,080

4,505

11,457,796

2,430

More than 3 years

579,146

62,850

2,453,277

17,577

684,995

100,626

14,257,260

29,907

18. Trade and other liabilities
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Trade payables

161,850

73,807

Interest accrued on borrowings

34,114

23,811

Dividends payable

37,808

37,935

Long term employee incentive plans accrual (note 27)

74,142

42,512

Deferred income

11,746

14,975

Other payables and accruals

114,486

144,988

434,146

338,028

Trade and other liabilities are stated at amortised cost. The average credit period for the trade payables is 60 days. The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all the payables are paid within the agreed credit period. The contractual
maturities for trade payables are within one year.
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19. Leases
The Group as lessee
The Group has entered into operating lease arrangements for office and medical facility space.
The movement in the Group’s right-of-use assets and lease liabilities during the year is as follows:

Right-of-use assets
AED ‘000

Lease liabilities
AED‘000

As at 1 January 2020

129,140

136,510

Depreciation expense

(13,915)

-

Interest expense

-

8,508

Payments

-

(16,960)

(1,675)

(1,675)

As at 31 December 2020

113,550

126,383

Depreciation expense

(14,687)

-

Interest expense

-

8,376

Payments

-

(15,627)

New leases

859

859

Reassessment of lease terms 1

(73)

(73)

99,649

119,918

Reassessment of lease terms 1

As at 31 December 2021

1

During the current and prior year, the Group performed reassessment due to reduction in market rentals on account of its leases.

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets

14,687

13,915

Interest expense on lease liabilities

8,376

8,508

Expense relating to short-term leases

4,081

5,468

Total amount recognised in profit or loss

27,144

27,891

The total cash outflow for leases amounted to AED 15,627 thousand (31 December 2020: AED 16,960 thousand).
The Group as lessor
Operating leases relate to the investment property owned by the Group with lease payments between 1 to 15 years (2020: 1 to 15 years).
Rental income earned by the Group on its investment property is set out in note 8.
The non-cancellable operating lease receivables are set out below:
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Within one year

40,334

46,500

Between 2 and 5 years

42,474

73,025

More than 5 years

6,786

8,646

89,594

128,171
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20. Revenue from sale of goods and services
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

301,940

301,589

Cost of sale

(246,733)

(237,086)

Gross profit

55,207

64,503

Revenue

Revenue and cost of sales of services are mainly attributable to the healthcare operations. Performance obligations relating to goods
and services are satisfied at the point in time.
All revenues are generated within UAE.

21. Income from financial investments
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

(476)

146

Net income from derivatives

251,103

97,308

Net income from listed fixed income securities

163,015

418,950

Net income from listed equity securities

488,566

46,128

Net (loss) / income from convertible preference shares

(27,779)

42,492

874,429

605,024

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

972

(972)

-

2,191

7,064

(29,620)

8,036

(28,401)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Net (loss) / income from unquoted fund

22. Other income / (expense), net

Reversal / (impairment) on loan investments
Gain on disposal of subsidiary (note 5.3)
Others
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23. General and administrative expenses
2021
AED '000

2020
AED '000

Company

Subsidiaries

Total

Company

Subsidiaries

Total

111,407

38,917

150,324

91,600

40,665

132,265

Legal and other
professional expenses

15,707

14,581

30,288

11,434

12,401

23,835

Depreciation

3,366

3,409

6,775

3,294

4,111

7,405

254

127

381

344

108

452

1,738

4,462

6,200

1,443

4,600

6,043

-

18,659

18,659

400

10,009

10,409

9,720

17,190

26,910

10,390

21,307

31,697

142,192

97,345

239,537

118,905

93,201

212,106

Staff costs

Amortisation and writeoff intangible assets
Marketing expenses
Provision for expected
credit losses
Others

During the current year, Group made social contributions amounting to AED 58 thousand (2020: AED 50 thousand).

24. Finance cost, net
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Interest on borrowings

90,274

111,446

Interest on lease liabilities (note 19)

8,376

8,508

Amortisation of loan arrangement costs

2,775

315

Interest income from loan investments at amortised cost

(1,760)

(6,458)

Interest earned on time deposits

(1,189)

(7,388)

Unwinding of interest on disposal of investment property

(1,040)

(749)

97,436

105,674
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Significant balances and transactions with related parties

25. Related parties

Loan investments provided to associates amounted to AED nil
as at 31 December 2021 (2020: AED 45,003 thousand). As at 31
December 2020, the loan was a stage 1 asset and interest
bearable. As at 31 December 2021, the loan has a gross balance
of AED nil (2020: AED 45,975 thousand) and expected credit loss
of AED nil (2020: AED 972 thousand).

Related parties include major shareholders of the Company,
directors or officers of the Group, enterprises that are in a
position to exercise significant influence over the Group or
those enterprises over which the Group can exercise significant
influence or has joint control.
The Group conducts its transactions with related parties on arm’s
length terms, with any exceptions to be specifically approved by
the Board. In all cases, transactions with related parties are
required to be conducted in compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations. Where a Board member has an actual or
perceived conflict of interest over an issue to be considered by
the Board, the interested member may not vote on any relevant
resolutions, and can also be asked by the Chairman not to
participate in the relevant Board discussions. The Company has a
conflict of interest policy for Board members and, for senior
management, a code of conduct. The Company takes reasonable
steps to maintain an awareness of the other relevant
commitments of its Directors and senior management, and thus
is able to monitor compliance with this policy and code.

During 2020, the loan portfolio agreement that was held under
the Group was terminated and the amount due of AED 220,680
thousand was settled in full.
During the year, the Company’s Key Management Personnel
redeemed an amount of AED nil from Waha MENA Equity Fund SP
(2020: AED 3,241 thousand); the Company’s Key Management
Personnel redeemed an amount of AED nil from Waha MENA
Value Fund SP (2020: AED 617 thousand); the Company’s
Directors and Key Management Personnel redeemed an amount
of AED nil from Waha CEEMEA Credit Fund SP under a coinvestment plan (2020: AED 16,536 thousand).

Key management personnel compensation
Short term benefits
End of service and other long term benefits

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

16,620

10,224

690

524

17,310

10,748

26. Commitments
Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2021, the Group has capital commitments of AED 1,087 thousand (2020: AED 290 thousand) with respect to AAH.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group has outstanding capital calls of AED 44,455 thousand (2020: AED nil) pertaining to its investment in
unquoted fund.

Investment profit participation plans

27. Employee compensation

The Group's Board of Directors has approved the following cash
settled long term incentive plan for certain employees linked to
investment profit participation:

In designing its employee compensation plans, the Group's
primary objective is to provide employees with a robust
compensation platform upon which they are encouraged to
pursue outstanding returns and to reward them based on their
results in line with the interests of the Group. This is achieved
through a combination of cash salaries, variable bonuses
dependent upon Group and individual's performance, and
participation in various long term employee incentive and
co-investment programs described below.
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•	A trading plan, whereby the employees are granted points
linked to the fund's performance which vests annually. An
amount representing the value of vested points derived
from the fund's net asset value is divided into a cash
payment and cash deferral. The cash deferral is reinvested
into the funds for a period of three years. The reinvested
amount vests over the three year period and after
completing the service condition a cash payment is made.

90

Share linked plan
The Group's Board of Directors has approved a cash settled share linked incentive plan for the management team, under which certain
employees receive restricted stock units of Waha Capital PJSC, which vest progressively, over three years from the effective grant date,
subject to continued employment. A cash amount representing the value of the vested shares, based on the latest share price, is paid
upon the employee successfully completing the three year service condition.
During 2019, management has discontinued the RSU plans, accelerating vesting of all the outstanding units in 2019. 2,349,364 units were
settled during the prior year and there was no remaining units as of 31 December 2020.
The movement in accruals for the various plans is as follows:
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Opening balance

42,512

30,426

Expensed during the year

52,580

20,004

Payments during the year

(20,950)

(7,918)

Closing balance (note 18)

74,142

42,512

28. Financial instruments

procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive
control environment in which all employees understand their
roles and obligations.

Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of
financial instruments:
•

credit risk

•

liquidity risk

•

market risk

•

operational risk

The Group Audit Committee oversees how management
monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies
and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the
Group. The Group Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role
by an internal audit team. The Internal audit team undertakes
regular reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the
results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to
each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s
management of capital.

In respect of public market transactions, the Group has
implemented risk management policies and guidelines, as set
out in the Private Placement Memorandums of Waha MENA
Equity Fund SP, Waha CEEMEA Credit Fund SP, Waha MENA Value
Fund SP, Waha EM Equity Fund SP and Waha Islamic Income Fund
SP (all together the “Funds”), which set out the procedures to be
performed prior to making investment decisions, including
employing qualitative analyses, quantitative techniques, due
diligence and management meetings as well as fundamental
research on evaluation of the issuer based on its financial
statements and operations. In addition to analysing financial
instruments, the Group determines the relative attractiveness of
investing in different markets in order to determine the country
weighting in each area. In assessing the investment potential in
each area, the Group considers economic growth prospects,
monetary decisions, political risks, currency risks, capital flow
risks, and other factors.

Risk management framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management
framework. Management has established a committee
comprising of senior management, which is responsible for
developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management
policies. The Group’s risk management policies are
established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to
monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes
in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group,
through its training and management standards and
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a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers, derivative assets, cash and cash balances and loan
investments. As at the end of the reporting date, the Group’s financial assets exposed to credit risk amounted to:

Cash and bank balances 1
Trade and other receivables 2
Loan investment 3
Financial investments at FVTPL

1

Cash and bank balances exclude cash in hand

2

Trade and other receivables exclude prepayments and advances

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

1,420,996

704,390

634,048

518,492

-

45,003

6,414,024

6,163,043

8,469,068

7,430,928

As at 31 December 2020, loan investment, with gross value of AED 45,975 thousand and ECLs of AED 972 thousand, was fully
secured against shares mortgage.
3

(i) Bank balances
Substantially all of the bank balances are held with reputed financial institutions with S&P credit ratings ranging between A and
BBB+, therefore, there are no significant credit risks as at reporting date.
(ii) Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The characteristics of the
Group’s customer base including default risk of the industry and country in which the Group’s customers operate are some of the
factors which influence credit risk.
The Group has established various policies and procedures to manage credit exposure, including initial financial assessment and
appraisal, collateral and guarantee requirements and continual credit monitoring. The expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables are estimated based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date, including time value of money where appropriate.
Credit risk arising on transactions with brokers relates to transactions awaiting settlement. Risk related to unsettled transactions is
considered small due to the short settlement period involved and high credit quality of the brokers used.
(iii) Loan investments
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing in securities which are fully collaterised and with credit ratings which are
within the limits prescribed by the Group’s financial risk management guidelines. The expected credit loss of a loan to an equity
accounted investee is based on the expected credit loss model which is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
(iv) Derivative assets
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk on derivative assets by dealing with financial institutions and commercial banks that have
S&P credit ratings ranging between A and BBB+ as at the reporting date

b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of
Directors, which provides appropriate liquidity risk management guidance to the management for the Group’s short, medium and
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
banking and borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of
financial assets and liabilities. The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
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AED ‘000

31 December 2021
Current

Assets

Non-current

<1year

1–3years

>3years

Unspecified

Total

-

-

-

36,392

36,392

11,314

15,070

73,265

-

99,649

Investment property

-

-

-

711,422

711,422

Goodwill and intangible assets

-

-

-

78,983

78,983

Loan investments

-

-

-

-

-

Investments in equity-accounted
associates and joint ventures

-

-

-

170,242

170,242

6,352,214

20,577

41,233

-

6,414,024

Inventories

15,604

-

-

-

15,604

Trade and other receivables

641,900

-

-

-

641,900

Cash and bank balances

1,421,350

-

-

-

1,421,350

Total assets

8,442,382

35,647

114,498

997,039

9,589,566

4,033,308

51,624

32,266

-

4,117,198

-

-

-

26,288

26,288

Derivative liabilities

33,271

4,505

62,850

-

100,626

Lease liabilities

12,794

15,911

91,213

-

119,918

Trade and other liabilities

434,146

-

-

-

434,146

-

-

-

4,791,390

4,791,390

4,513,519

72,040

186,329

4,817,678

9,589,566

Property and equipment, net
Right-of-use assets

Financial investments

Liabilities and equity
Borrowings
End of service benefit provision

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities, based on contractual undiscounted payments, into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date.
AED ‘000

31 December 2021
<1year

1–3years

>3years

Total

4,083,533

54,692

34,663

4,172,888

Trade and other liabilities

307,194

-

-

307,194

Lease liabilities

16,317

25,620

191,659

233,596

Total liabilities

4,407,044

80,312

226,322

4,713,678

Liabilities
Borrowings
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31 December 2020
Current

Non-current

< 1 year

1 – 3 years

> 3 years

Unspecified

Total

-

-

-

46,368

46,368

14,016

20,315

79,219

-

113,550

-

-

-

715,989

715,989

-

-

-

79,080

79,080

45,003

-

-

-

45,003

-

-

-

472,076

472,076

6,135,485

1,885

25,673

-

6,163,043

15,224

-

-

-

15,224

526,796

-

-

-

526,796

704,684

-

-

-

704,684

7,441,208

22,200

104,892

1,313,513

8,881,813

4,101,775

67,733

42,334

-

4,211,842

-

-

-

26,058

26,058

9,900

2,430

17,577

-

29,907

8,383

15,298

102,702

-

126,383

338,028

-

-

-

338,028

-

-

-

4,149,595

4,149,595

4,458,086

85,461

162,613

4,175,653

8,881,813

31 December 2020
<1year

1–3years

>3years

Total

4,154,762

71,663

45,405

4,271,830

178,065

-

-

178,065

16,823

37,843

193,185

247,851

4,349,650

109,506

238,590

4,697,746
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c) Market risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the returns.
i) Currency risk
The Group may be exposed to currency risk on financial investments, trade receivables and trade payables that are denominated in a
currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. In respect of the Group’s transactions and balances
denominated in US$, Qatari Riyal (QAR), Saudi Riyal (SAR), the Group is not exposed to the currency risk as the UAE Dirham (AED) and
Saudi Riyal (SAR) are currently pegged to the US$. The table below summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s monetary and nonmonetary assets and liabilities to changes in foreign exchange movements at year end. The analysis is based on the assumptions that
the relevant foreign exchange rate increased/decreased by 0.5% with all other variables held constant:

Assets

Liabilities

Net Exposure

Hedged

Effect on net equity for
+/- 0.5% sensitivity

Euro

448,895

(396,118)

52,777

(95,138)

+/-740

Great British Pound

159,815

-

159,815

-

+/-799

Kuwaiti Dinar

42,047

-

42,047

-

+/-210

Egyptian Pound

581,223

(11,547)

569,676

-

+/-2,848

Omani Riyal

16,485

-

16,485

-

+/-82

Others

54,165

-

54,165

-

+/-271

1,302,630

(407,665)

894,965

(95,138)

+/-4,950

2020
AED ‘000

Assets

Liabilities

Net Exposure

Hedged

Effect on net equity for
+/- 0.5% sensitivity

Euro

882,716

(724,862)

157,854

153,862

+/-20

Great British Pound

42,114

-

42,114

-

+/-211

Kuwaiti Dinar

28,470

-

28,470

-

+/-142

Egyptian Pound

283,035

-

283,035

-

+/-1,415

Omani Riyal

8,062

-

8,062

-

+/-40

Others

71,381

-

71,381

-

+/-357

1,315,778

(724,862)

590,916

153,862

+/-2,185

2021
AED ‘000
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(ii) Interest rate risk

assigned to senior management within each business unit. This
responsibility is supported by the development of overall Group
standards for the management of operational risk in the
following areas:

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk on its
investment in listed fixed income securities carried at fair value
through profit or loss, and cash flow interest rate risk on its
floating rate non-derivative borrowings. The sensitivities of these
financial instruments to changes in interest rates are as follows:

•	requirements for appropriate segregation of duties,
including the independent authorisation of transactions;

Fair value interest rate risk

•	requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of
transactions;

•	The Group had listed fixed income securities fair valued at
AED 4,102,793 thousand at the end of the reporting period
(2020: AED 4,422,913 thousand), for which the Group uses a
range of DV01 (the dollar value of a basis point) for different
time intervals as a key measure of interest rate risk. An
absolute measure derived from duration, it indicates the
change in price or fair value, expressed in monetary units,
caused by a one basis point (0.01%) change in the yield
curve. The DV01 for the Group’s listed fixed income
securities was AED 286 thousand at the end of the reporting
period (2020: AED 856 thousand).

•	compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
•	documentation of controls and procedures;
•	requirements for the periodic assessment of operational
risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures to
address the risks identified;
•	requirements for the reporting of operational losses and
proposed remedial action;
•	development of contingency plans;

Cash flow interest rate risk

•	training and professional development;

•	The Group had floating rate non-derivative borrowings of
AED 4,023,847 thousand at the end of the reporting period
(2020: AED 4,064,045 thousand). Had the relevant interest
rates been higher/lower by 50 basis points, the Group’s
finance cost would have been higher/lower, therefore the
profit for the year would have been lower/higher by AED
40,976 thousand (2020: AED 43,264 thousand).

•	ethical and business standards; and
•	risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.
Compliance with Group standards is supported by a programme
of periodic reviews undertaken by internal audit. The results of
internal audit reviews are discussed with the management of the
business unit to which they relate, with summaries submitted to
the Audit Committee and senior management of the Group.

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into interest
rate swaps, where appropriate, to hedge against the net interest
rate exposure of the Group’s investments in listed fixed income
securities and the corresponding borrowings through
repurchase agreements, except where the interest rate exposure
is deemed to be immaterial or acceptable in relation to the cost
of entering into a hedge. At the end of the reporting period, the
net carrying amount of the interest rate swaps was immaterial.

d) Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to
maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain
future development of the business. Capital consists of share
capital, retained earnings and reserves. The Board of Directors
monitors the return on capital as well as the level of dividends to
ordinary shareholders in order to maintain a balance between
the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position.

(iii) Equity and fixed income price risk
Equity and fixed income price risk arises from investments in
equity and fixed income securities. Management of the Group
monitors the mix of securities in its investment portfolio based
on respective benchmark market indices to reduce the
exposure on account of share prices (refer to note 28 (e) for
sensitivity analysis).

In respect of the public market segment, the amount of net assets
attributable to shareholders can change significantly on a weekly
basis, as the Funds are subject to weekly subscriptions and
redemptions at the discretion of shareholders, as well as changes
resulting from the Funds’ performance. The Group’s objective
when managing capital is to safeguard the Funds’ ability to
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders, provide benefits for other stakeholders and
maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the
investment activities of the Funds.

Operational risks
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from
a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s
involvement with financial instruments, including processes,
personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external
factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as
those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and
generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.

The Group monitors its capital structure based on the covenants
required by the Group’s lenders of the Revolving Corporate facility
(“RCF”). For the year ended 31 December 2021, a gearing ratio
was computed and is defined as Borrowings over tangible assets
as defined in the RCF agreement dated 15 August 2021.
Correspondingly, for the year ended 31 December 2020, a
leverage ratio was computed and was defined as Borrowings over
Borrowings plus Net worth as defined in the RCF agreement
dated 15 August 2016.

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to
balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the
Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid
control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and
implementation of controls to address operational risk is
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valuation technique:

The Group’s gearing ratio reported to the Group’s lenders of the
Revolving Corporate facility (“RCF”) as at 31 December 2021 was
0.33 and was in compliance of the requirement of maximum of
0.60 times.

Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

The Group’s leverage ratio reported to the Group’s lenders of the
Revolving Corporate facility (“RCF”) as at 31 December 2020 was
0.30 and was in compliance of the requirement of maximum of
0.65 times.

Level 2: inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1,
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and
Level 3: inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability.

e) Fair values
a

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. As at
31 December, the Group held the following financial assets and
liabilities at fair value:

Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair value of financial assets and liabilities by

2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

Fair value
hierarchy

Valuation technique

Sensitivity Analysis

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
1,788,086

1,366,559

Level 1

Quoted bid prices in an
active market

± 5% change in quoted bid
prices, impacts fair value by
AED 89,404 thousand

963

963

Level 3

Valuation is based on Net Asset
Values (NAV)

± 5% change in NAV, impacts
fair value by AED 48 thousand

185,545

220,680

Level 3

Options model with unobservable
inputs, mainly share price
and market volatilities of the
underlying shares

± 5% change in quoted bid
prices, impacts fair value by
AED 9,277 thousand

d. Listed fixed income
securities

4,102,793

4,422,913

Level 1

Quoted bid prices in an
active market

± 5% change in quoted bid
prices, impacts fair value by
AED 205,140 thousand

e. Reverse repurchase
contracts

112,780

49,484

Level 2

The valuation is based on
broker quotes

± 5% change in broker quotes
impacts fair value by AED 5,639
thousand

f. Derivative assets

88,960

68,282

Level 2

The valuation is based on
broker quotes

± 5% change in broker quotes
impacts fair value by AED 4,448
thousand

g. Unquoted fund

134,897

34,162

Level 3

Valuation is based on Net
Asset Values (NAV) of the fund
calculated by the fund manager

± 5% change in NAV, impacts
fair value by AED 6,745
thousand

The valuation is based on
broker quotes

± 5% change in broker
quotes impacts fair value by
AED 5,031 thousand

a. Listed equity
securities
b. Other investment in
equity securities
c. Convertible
preference shares

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
a. Derivative liabilities
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(100,626)

(29,907)

Level 2
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2021
AED ‘000
Financial assets

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

1,788,086

1,788,086

-

-

Financial assets at FVTPL
Investment in equity securities

963

-

-

963

185,545

-

-

185,545

Other investment in equity securities
Convertible preference shares

4,102,793

4,102,793

-

-

Derivative assets

88,960

-

88,960

-

Reverse repurchase contracts

112,780

-

112,780

-

Investment in fixed income securities

134,897

-

-

134,897

6,414,024

5,890,879

201,740

321,405

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Derivative liabilities

(100,626)

-

(100,626)

-

Total

(100,626)

-

(100,626)

-

Level 2

Level 3

Unquoted fund
Total
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at FVTPL

2020
AED ‘000
Financial assets

Total

Level 1

1,366,559

1,366,559

-

-

963

-

-

963
220,680

Financial assets at FVTPL
Investment in equity securities
Other investment in equity securities
Convertible preference shares
Investment in fixed income securities

220,680

-

-

4,422,913

4,422,913

-

-

68,282

-

68,282

-

Derivative assets
Reverse repurchase contracts

49,484

-

49,484

-

Unquoted fund

34,162

-

-

34,162

6,163,043

5,789,472

117,766

255,805

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Derivative liabilities

(29,907)

-

(29,907)

-

Total

(29,907)

-

(29,907)

-

There have been no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year.
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements
2021
AED ‘000

2020
AED ‘000

At 1 January

255,805

34,980

Additions

103,415

180,222

(Decrease) / increase in fair value through profit or loss

(37,815)

40,603

321,405

255,805

b

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amounts.
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